

LUND UNIVERSITY

Interactions between Streptococcus pyogenes and the Human Immune System

Weineisen, Maria

2006

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Weineisen, M. (2006). Interactions between Streptococcus pyogenes and the Human Immune System. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Division of Microbiology, Immunology and Glycobiology - MIG]. Lund University, Institute of Laboratory Medicine.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Interactions between *Streptococcus pyogenes* and the Human Immune System

Maria Weineisen

Institutionen för Laboratoriemedicin Avdelningen för MIG 2006

Akademisk avhandling

som med vederbörligt tillstånd från Medicinska Fakulteten vid Lunds Universitet för avläggande av doktorsexamen i Medicinsk Vetenskap kommer att offentligen försvaras i Rune Grubb-salen, Biomedicinskt Centrum, Sölvegatan 19, fredagen den 31:a mars, 2006, klockan 9.30

Fakultetsopponent

Professor Claes Dahlgren Avdelningen för Reumatologi och Inflammationsforskning Göteborgs Universitet



LUNDS UNIVERSITET Medicinska fakulteten

Organization	Document name	TON
LUND UNIVERSITY	DOCTORAL DISSERTAT	IION
Institute of Laboratory Medicine	March 31, 2	006
Sölvegatan 23	Sponsoring organization	
223 62 LUND		
Author(s)	_	
Maria Weineisen		
Title and subtitle		
Interactions between Streptococcus pyogenes a	and the Human Immune Syster	n
Abstract		
Streptococcus pyogenes is a common human pathog cause of life-threatening conditions, such as necrotiz pyogenes express different virulence factors. The sur pyogenes, mediating resistance to killing by human n Results presented in this thesis show that in the presse avoids killing by human neutrophils by M protein-m comparing a wild type strain and a strain deficient in pyogenes and human neutrophils were studied. The if the presence of non-immune plasma are mediated may bacterial surface and CD11b/CD18 expressed on the ingestion and killing of the bacteria. The activation of and the subsequent activation of the small Rho GTPa In blood from immune humans, S. pyogenes are opso- mediated by Abs directed against the N-terminal part complement system. In the presence of serum from i through activation of the complement system by M p Cdc42 followed by phagocytosis. Almost all strains of S. pyogenes bind fibrinogen (Fg protein family. We mapped the binding of Fg to the the Fg-binding is important for these bacteria to resis The conditions under which the interactions between the studies described above resemble the situation in bacteria: neutrophil ratio). However, at the initial sta bacteria to neutrophil ratio is much higher. Using tw- pyogenes and phagocytes at a higher MOI, we found on the bacterial surface and the integrins α5β1 and α	en causing mild infections such ing fasciitis. To be able to infe rface-expressed M protein is a neutrophils. ence of plasma from non-immu ediated inhibition of adhesion M protein-expression, the inte nteractions between S. pyoger ainly by complement compone neutrophil surface. This intera of CD11b/CD18 leads to the ac ase Cdc42. onized and killed. In this thesis to f the M protein and that thes mmune individuals, the killing protein-specific Abs and activa g) and the Fg-binding is associ B repeats of the M1 and M5 pr st killing when incubated in hu scateremia (a low multiplicity ges of infection, occurring at s o different model systems to si I that this interaction is mediativ µβ3 expressed on the phagocy	h as tonsillitis, but is also the ct the human host, S. major virulence factor of S. une individuals, S. pyogenes to the neutrophils. By eractions between S. ues and human neutrophils in ints deposited on the iction leads to the effective tivation of tyrosine kinases s, we show that killing is e Abs activate the g of S. pyogenes is mediated tion of CD11b/CD18 and ated with members of the M roteins and demonstrated tha man blood. rophils were investigated in a finetcion, MOI, i.e. kin or mucosal surfaces, the tudy the interactions of S. ed by fibronectin deposited tes.
Key words: Streptococcus pyogenes, M protein, fil phagocytosis	brinogen, fibronectin, neutroph	nils, integrins, signalling,
Classification system and/or index termes (if any):		
Supplementary bibliographical information:		Language
		English
ISSN and key title:		ISBN
1652-8220		91-85481-63-7
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 132	Price
	Security classification	

Signature

laria Neineisen

Distribution by (name and address) I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

DOKUMENTDATABLAD enl SIS 61 41 21

February 19, 2006 Date_

Interactions between *Streptococcus pyogenes* and the Human Immune System

Maria Weineisen

Institute of Laboratory Medicine Section of MIG 2006



LUND UNIVERSITY Faculty of Medicine A doctoral thesis at a university in Sweden is produced either as a monograph or as a collection of papers. In the latter case, the introductory part constitutes the formal thesis, which summarizes the accompanying papers. These have already been published or are manuscripts at various stages (*in press, submitted*, or *in manuscript*).

Maria Weineisen Section of MIG Institute of Laboratory Medicine Lund University Biomedical Centre, B14 Tornavägen 10 221 84 Lund SWEDEN

Printed by Media-Tryck, Lund University, Sweden
© Maria Weineisen, 2006
© The American Association of Immunologists, Inc. Copyright 2004.
© Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH
© Blackwell Publishing Ltd

ISSN 1652-8220 ISBN 91-85481-63-7 Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2006:38

Till minne av min mormor

Abstract

Streptococcus pyogenes is a common human pathogen causing mild infections such as tonsillitis, but is also the cause of life-threatening conditions, such as necrotizing fasciitis. To be able to infect the human host, *S. pyogenes* express different virulence factors. The surface-expressed M protein is a major virulence factor of *S. pyogenes*, mediating resistance to killing by human neutrophils.

Results presented in this thesis show that in the presence of plasma from non-immune individuals, *S. pyogenes* avoids killing by human neutrophils by M protein-mediated inhibition of adhesion to the neutrophils. By comparing a wild type strain and a strain deficient in M protein-expression, the interactions between *S. pyogenes* and human neutrophils were studied. The interactions between *S. pyogenes* and human neutrophils in the presence of non-immune plasma are mediated mainly by complement components deposited on the bacterial surface and CD11b/CD18 expressed on the neutrophil surface. This interaction leads to the effective ingestion and killing of the bacteria. The activation of CD11b/CD18 leads to the activation of tyrosine kinases and the subsequent activation of the small Rho GTPase Cdc42.

In blood from immune humans, *S. pyogenes* are opsonized and killed. In this thesis, we show that killing is mediated by Abs directed against the N-terminal part of the M protein and that these Abs activate the complement system. In the presence of serum from immune individuals, the killing of *S. pyogenes* is mediated through activation of the complement system by M protein-specific Abs and activation of CD11b/CD18 and Cdc42 followed by phagocytosis.

Almost all strains of *S. pyogenes* bind fibrinogen (Fg) and the Fg-binding is associated with members of the M protein family. We mapped the binding of Fg to the B repeats of the M1 and M5 proteins and demonstrated that the Fg-binding is important for these bacteria to resist killing when incubated in human blood.

The conditions under which the interactions between *S. pyogenes* and human neutrophils were investigated in the studies described above resemble the situation in bacteremia (a low multiplicity of infection, MOI, i.e. bacteria: neutrophil ratio). However, at the initial stages of infection, occurring at skin or mucosal surfaces, the bacteria to neutrophil ratio is much higher. Using two different model systems to study the interactions of *S. pyogenes* and phagocytes at a higher MOI, we found that this interaction is mediated by fibronectin deposited on the bacterial surface and the integrins $\alpha_s \beta_1$ and $\alpha_u \beta_3$ expressed on the phagocytes.

Contents

Abstract	4
Abbreviations	6
Original Papers	7
Introduction	9
1 Streptococcus pyogenes	11
1.1 Disease caused by Streptococcus pyogenes	11
1.2 Virulence Factors	12
1.2.1 The M protein	12
1.2.2 Fibronectin-Binding Proteins	14
1.2.3 Capsule	15
1.2.4 Other Virulence Factors	15
2 The Complement System	17
2.1 Activation of the Complement System	17
2.2 Regulation of the Complement System	19
2.3 Biological Roles of the Complement System	21
2.4 Complement Receptors	22
3 The Neutrophil	25
3.1 Neutrophil Granules and Secretory Vesicles	25
3.2 Oxidative burst – the NADPH Oxidase	27
3.3 Recruitment of Neutrophils to the Site of Infection	28
3.4 Phagocytosis	30
3.4.1 Fc Receptors (FcRs)	30
3.4.2 Complement Recptors (CRs)	31
3.4.3 Pattern Recognition Receptors	31
3.5 Killing of Microorganisms	32
4 The Integrins	33
4.1 Neutrophil Integrins	34
4.2 β_2 Integrin Signalling in Human Neutrophils	36
4.2.1 The Rho Family of small GTPases	38
Present Investigation	41
Populärvetenskaplig Sammanfattning	49
Acknowledgements	53
References	55
Appendix	71

Abbreviations

Ab	antibody
C4BP	C4b-binding protein
CD	cluster of differentiation
CR	complement receptor
DAG	diacylglycerol
ECM	extracellular matrix
FcR	Fc receptor
Fg	fibrinogen
FH	factor H
FHL-1	factor H-like protein 1
FI	factor I
fMLP	N-formyl-methionyl-leucyl-phenylalanine
Fn	fibronectin
GAP	GTPase activating protein
GDI	guanine nucleotide dissociation inhibitor
GEF	guaninine nucleotide exchange factor
GPCR	G protein-coupled receptor
GPI	glycosyl phosphatidyl inositol
HBP	heparin-binding protein
ICAM	intercellular adhesion molecule
Ig	immunoglobulin
IL-8	interleukin-8
IP ₃	inositol-(1,4,5)-triphosphate
LPS	lipopolysaccharide
LTA	lipteichoic acid
LTB ₄	leukotriene B ₄
MAC	membrane attack complex
MCP	membrane cofactor protein
MPO	myeloperoxidase
NADPH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
OF	opacity factor
PAK	p21-activated kinase
PECAM-1	platelet endothelial adhesion molecule-1
PI3-K	phosphoinositide 3-kinase
PIP ₂	phosphatidylinositol-(4,5)-bisphosphate
PIP ₃	phosphatidylinositol-(3,4,5)-trisphosphate
РКС	protein kinase C
PLC	phospholipase C
PLD	phospholipase D
WHO	World Health Organization

Original Papers

This thesis is based on the following papers, which will be referred to in the text by their roman numerals.

- I Weineisen, M., Sjöbring, U., Fällman, M. & Andersson T. Streptococcal M5 protein prevents neutrophil phagocytosis by interfering with CD11b/CD18 receptor-mediated association and signaling. *J Immunol* (2004) **172**: 3798-807
- II Nilsson, M., Weineisen, M., Andersson, T., Truedsson, L. & Sjöbring, U. Critical role for complement receptor 3 (CD11b/CD18), but not for Fc receptors, in killing of *Streptococcus pyogenes* by neutrophils in human immune serum. *Eur J Immunol* (2005) 35 1472-81
- III Ringdahl, U., Svensson, H. G., Kotarsky, H., Gustafsson, M., Weineisen, M., & Sjöbring, U. A role for the fibrinogen-binding regions of streptococcal M proteins in phagocytosis resistance. *Molec Microbiol* (2000) 37: 1318-26
- IV Frentzell, M. *, Weineisen, M. *, Ståhl, A., Sakai, T., Johansson, S., Herwald, H., Mörgelin, M., Andersson, T., Ringdahl, U., Berlikowski, M., Nilsson, M., Kotarsky, H., Truedsson, L., Fässler, R., Sjöbring, U. Adhesion of *Streptococcus pyogenes* to phagocytic cells is achieved by two distinct mechanisms that are both blocked by M protein expression. *Submitted*

[#]MF and MW contributed equally to this study

Published papers are reproduced with the permission from

© The American Association of Immunologists, Inc. Copyright 2004.

© Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH

© Blackwell Publishing Ltd

Maria Weineisen, 2006

Introduction

Every day, we encounter potentially harmful microorganisms. To prevent these microorganisms from causing infection, the body mounts a broad arsenal of defence mechanisms including physical barriers such as the skin and mucosa, complement, antibodies, and phagocytic cells.

Streptococcus pyogenes is a common human pathogen causing uncomplicated infections such as tonsillitis and impetigo. This bacterium can, however, also give rise to life-threatening infections such as necrotizing fasciitis and toxic shock. In addition, *S. pyogenes* can cause post-streptococcal complications, such as acute rheumatic fever and acute post-streptococcal glomerulonephritis. To be able to infect the host, the bacterium utilizes an array of virulence factors mediating adhesion, invasion, and avoidance of the hosts defence mechanisms.

Neutrophils are part of the body's first line of defence against invading microorganisms. These cells circulate with the blood and migrate into the tissue at the site of infection, where they bind, phagocytose, and kill invading microorganisms. To be able to execute their mission, the neutrophils express surface receptors mediating adhesion to the vessel wall, extravasation, migration to the site of infection, binding of foreign particles, and finally phagocytosis. The integrins comprise one group of receptors that are involved in these processes. These receptors bind different extracellular matrix proteins and complement components and are involved in phagocytosis.

In this thesis, the interactions between *S. pyogenes* and human neutrophils are investigated with respect to binding, signalling events mediated by the β_2 integrin CD11b/CD18, and phagocytosis.

Maria Weineisen, 2006

Streptococcus pyogenes

Streptococci are spherical Gram-positive bacteria growing in chains. They were first described 1874 by Billroth who gave them their name from two greek words; *streptos* (chain) and *kokhos* (berry). In the 1930ies Rebecca Lancefield classified streptococci based on group-specific polysaccharides¹. So far 13 different serological groups have been identified, of which group A, B, C, G and *Streptococcus pneumoniae* are the most important. Group A streptococci (GAS or *Streptococcus pyogenes*) is an exclusively human pathogen, causing a wide range of diseases. Group B streptococci (*S. agalactiae*) cause severe disease in the newborn. Groups C and G streptococci are common animal pathogens, but are increasing in importance as human pathogens.

S. pyogenes can cause infections ranging from mild conditions to life-threatening diseases. WHO estimates that over 500 000 deaths are caused each year by severe GAS infections.

1.1 Disease caused by Streptococcus pyogenes

The most common disease caused by *S. pyogenes* is tonsillitis, with over 600 million cases world wide each year² and although a relatively mild disease, the total costs for society are high. Streptococcal throat infections are most common in school aged children, and children are often asymptomatic carriers of *S. pyogenes*, thereby being a reservoir for the bacterium and being able to spread it to other humans. Throat infections caused by *S. pyogenes* are sometimes accompanied by scarlet fever, a reaction of the skin caused by a bacteriophage-encoded toxin (SpeA) secreted by some strains of *S. pyogenes*. *S. pyogenes* can also cause skin infections such as impetigo, erysipelas, and cellulitis. In addition, *S. pyogenes* can cause severe life-threatening invasive conditions such as necrotizing fasciitis, myositis, and toxic shock. These conditions have a rapid progression, often causing death within a few days. There are more than 600 000 new cases of invasive *S. pyogenes* disease every year, leading to more than 160 000 deaths, an overall death rate of approximately 30%².

Untreated pharyngitis caused by *S. pyogenes* is sometimes followed by acute rheumatic fever (ARF). Organs affected in ARF are the joints, brain, heart (carditis), and the skin. The carditis can be progressive and lead to severe injuries of the heart valves, hence ARF is an important cause of cardiovascular disease in developing countries³. Rheumatic heart disease affects

more than 15 million people throughout the world, with 280 000 new cases and 230 000 deaths annually². Another complication after infections caused by *S. pyogenes*, although not as common as ARF, is acute post-streptococcal glomerulonephritis (APSGN). While ARF is exclusively associated with throat infections, APSGN can follow both skin and throat infections.

1.2 Virulence factors

1.2.1 The M protein

The M protein (Figure 1.1) is a surface-associated protein protruding from the bacterial surface. This protein confers S. pyogenes with the property to resist killing in human blood. The M proteins occur in pairs, twisted around each other in a coiled coil structure⁴ – a structure rarely seen in bacteria, but common in human proteins. Antibodies (Abs) directed against the conserved parts of the M protein (in the coiled coil) have been shown to cross-react with human myosin and tropomyosin and are thought to be of importance in the pathogenisis of ARF⁵. Except for the most N-terminal part, the M protein has an α -helical structure. Each M protein has a short intracellular tail, and a conserved sequence LPXTG (leucine, proline, arbitrary aa, threonine, and glycine) which is important for the attachment of the protein to the bacterial cell wall⁶. The region N-terminal of the membrane anchor is believed to stabilize the protein in the cell wall by weaving between the cross-links in the peptidoglycan. The different regions of the M protein consist of several repeating blocks and this repetitive structure can be a location of recombination events, giving antigenic variation of the M protein. The M protein is highly conserved close to the cell wall, and variability increases towards the Nterminal. The N-terminal region of the M protein is hypervariable and only Abs directed against this part of the protein confer protective immunity. It is differences in the N-terminal that forms the basis for the typing of S. pyogenes into different serotypes. There are more than 100 different types of M proteins and Abs against one serotype only protect from reinfection with that specific serotype, and not against other serotypes.

The M protein belongs to the family of M-like proteins. This family includes the Emm, Enn, and Mrp proteins expressed by *S. pyogenes*, and M proteins from the group C and G streptococci. Some strains of *S. pyogenes* express one M-like protein, whereas other strains express two or even three M-like proteins. The genes encoding the M-like proteins are located adjacently on the chromosome and they belong to the the *mga* regulon (multiple gene regulator of group A streptococci). Other genes belonging to this regulon code for the C5a peptidase⁷, the opacity factor (OF)⁸, a collagen-like protein (ScIA)⁹, and Protein SIC¹⁰. A multiple gene regulator called Mga¹¹ regulates the expression of these proteins in response to environmental factors, such as temperature and the CO₂ level¹². Streptococcal strains producing OF, express three different M-like proteins, whereas OF-negative strains express one to three different M-like proteins¹³.

Proteins of the M protein family can be divided into two different classes based on the type of repeat region they express in their C-terminal part; class A proteins express A repeats and

class C proteins express C repeats. Many strains express proteins from both class A and C, whereas some strains only express class C proteins¹⁴. Mrp proteins belong to class A, whereas the Emm proteins express C repeats. Emm proteins can further be divided into subclasses according to their cross-reactivity with antibodies (Abs) directed against the C repeats of the M6 protein. Streptococci expressing Emm proteins belonging to class I share antigenic eptitopes with the M6 protein and do not express OF, whereas strains bearing class II Emm proteins produce OF, but do not have epitopes cross-reacting with the M6 protein¹⁵.



Figure 1.1 A schematic drawing of the M protein and its different regions. The approximate binding sites for different ligands are shown.

The M protein is thought to be important in different stages of streptococcal infection. It has been proposed to mediate adhesion to keratinocytes through the binding to CD46 (MCP)¹⁶ and to epithelial cells by interactions with fibronectin¹⁷ and mucins¹⁸. In addition to adhesion, the interaction between M protein and fibronectin has been shown to mediate

internalization of the bacteria¹⁷. The binding of kininogens has been predicted to contribute to increased vascular permeability through the release of bradykinin^{19, 20}. In addition to the proteins mentioned above, the M protein also binds fibrinogen²¹ (Paper IV), proteins regulating complement activation²²⁻²⁴, immunoglobulins (Igs)²⁵⁻²⁷, N-CAM²⁸, plasminogen²⁹, and albumin²⁷. The binding of plasma proteins may act as sterical hindrance for Abs and complement deposition.

Fibrinogen (Fg) is a 340 kDa glycoprotein present in plasma at 3 mg/ml. It consists of six polypeptide chains linked together by disulphide bridges. Upon damage of host tissue, due to injury or infection, the coagulation cascade is activated. The coagulation system is composed of several plasma proteins present as inactive forms. The activation of the coagulation cascade results in the cleavage of Fg to fibrin, and to the formation of a fibrin network that covers the damaged tissue. In addition, the interaction between fibrin(ogen) and platelets, will lead to the accumulation of these cells and stabilization of the fibrin clot. All virulent strains of *S. pyogenes* bind Fg and the binding of Fg to M proteins has been reported to reduce the deposition of complement on the bacterial surface, leading to inefficient killing of the bacteria^{30, 31}.

The binding of proteins regulating the complement system (see Chapter 2) is an important mechanism to inhibit complement deposition (opsonization) on the bacterial surface, thereby inhibiting the subsequent binding to phagocytic cells, ingestion, and killing. In particular OF⁺ strains bind C4b-binding protein (C4BP), a negative regulator of the classical pathway, and this interaction has been demonstrated to reduce complement deposition and subsequent killing of the bacteria^{32, 33}. In contrast, the binding of inhibitors of the alternative pathway, Factor H (FH) and FH-like protein 1 (FHL-1), does not influence the deposition of C3b on the bacterium or the ability of *S. pyogenes* to survive in human blood³⁴.

1.2.2 Fibronectin-Binding Proteins

Fibronectin (Fn) consists of two similar approximately 250 kDa subunits covalently linked to each other by two disulfide bonds. Fn is an ubiquitous extracellular matrix (ECM) protein and is expressed by many different cells. It is important for adhesion, cell migration, differentiation, growth, and fetal development³⁵. There are two forms of Fn; soluble Fn found in plasma (300 µg/ml) expressed by hepatocytes, and insoluble Fn found in the ECM as multimeric fibrils and secreted as a soluble dimer by different cells. The Fn molecule has binding sites for integrins, heparin, fibrin, collagen, and four binding sites for Fn itself ³⁵. The classic Fn receptor is considered to be $\alpha_{3}\beta_{1}$, but Fn binds to several other integrins, including $\alpha_{4}\beta_{1}$ and $\alpha_{4}\beta_{7}$. The integrins bind to an RGD (arginine, glycine, and aspartic acid) motif in Fn, but an RGD-independent binding to $\alpha_{4}\beta_{1}$ has also been found³⁶. In solution, Fn has a compact structure, where the binding sites for Fn are hidden inside the molecule. Upon binding to integrins on cell surfaces, the Fn molecule undergoes a conformational change and is expanded, exposing the Fn binding sites (active Fn). The Fn molecule can now bind to other cell-associated Fn molecules, creating Fn fibrils. In addition, other ECM proteins are also attached to the Fn fibrils³⁷. *S. pyogenes* expresses several proteins that bind Fn. So far, more than ten different Fn-binding proteins have been found in *S. pyogenes*, including the M protein, lipoteichoic acid (LTA) protein F1 (sfbI), protein F2, FBP54, and OF³⁸. These proteins play an important role in the colonization step; they bind to fibronectin in the ECM of epithelial cells, thus participating in adhesion. In the internalization process, bacteria-bound Fn binds to $\alpha_{s}\beta_{1}$ on the surface of epithelial cells, thereby activating the cells cytoskeleton and leading to the efficient internalization of the bacterium by these normally non-phagocytic cells^{17, 39}. By mediating their own uptake into epithelial cells, the bacteria evade the host immune system and inside the cells. However, Fn-binding is not only beneficial to the bacterium. In a mouse model of *S. pyogenes* infection, it was found that bacteria expressing a Fn-binding protein were less virulent and spread less efficiently to the spleen as compared to a strain not expressing Fn-binding proteins⁴⁰.

1.2.3 Capsule

The surface of *S. pyogenes* is covered by a hyaluronic acid capsule. The expression of capsule varies greatly between different strains and, in addition, capsule production is stimulated upon contact with the host⁴¹. Highly encapsulated strains show resistance against killing in human blood⁴² and have been found to be more virulent and to cause invasive disease⁵. In addition, the hyaluronate capsule binds to CD44 on keratinocytes, thereby stimulating the opening of intercellular junctions and facilitating tissue penetration⁴³.

1.2.4 Other Virulence Factors

In addition to the M proteins and Fn-binding proteins, *S. pyogenes* expresses several other virulence factors (surface-bound or secreted). Many of them are involved in the establishment of infection (adhesion and internalization). Others are important for the spreading of the bacteria in tissues or for inhibiting the effective opsonization of the bacterium by complement components or Abs.

The surface-bound C5a peptidase cleaves the chemoattractant C5a⁴⁴ (see also Chapters 2 and 3), thereby inhibiting the recruitment of phagocytic cells to the site of infection. OF is expressed by approximately half of the *S. pyogenes* strains⁴⁵. It is present both as a surface-associated and as a secreted protein. OF mediates opalescence in mammalian serum by cleaving apolipoprotein A1 present in high-density lipoprotein⁴⁶. Furthermore, OF binds Fg⁴⁷ and Fn⁴⁸. The importance of OF as virulence factor has been demonstrated in a mouse model where an OF-expressing strain was more virulent than a strain deficient in OF-expression⁴⁸. The surface-bound protein GRAB (protein G-related α_2 M-binding) inhibits the degradation of other surface-bound streptococcal proteins by binding the proteinase inhibitor α_2 -macroglobulin⁴⁹. Collagen-like proteins, Scls, have been found to be important in a mouse model of soft tissue infection⁵⁰.

The secreted protein streptococcal inhibitor of complement (SIC) inhibits insertion of the membrane attack complex by binding complement components C5b-7^{51, 52} (see Chapter 2). In addition to modulating the effect of complement deposition, *S. pyogenes* can also interfere

with the interactions with IgG. EndoS hydrolyzes the N-linked carbohydrate of IgG⁵³, thereby interfering with its ability to trigger phagocytosis⁵⁴. The IgG-degrading enzyme of *S. pyogenes* (IdeS), also called Mac, cleaves IgG in the hinge region⁵⁵ and binds to FcγRIIIb⁵⁶ and has been demonstrated to protect *S. pyogenes* from phagocytosis. *S. pyogenes* secretes two hemolysins – SLS, an oxygen-stable streptolysin, and SLO, which is oxygen-sensitive. These lysins have been shown to damage keratinocytes⁵⁷ and, in addition, SLO impairs the ability of neutrophils to kill *S. pyogenes*⁵⁸.

A number of pyrogenic exotoxins are expressed by *S. pyogenes*; streptococcal pyrogenic exotoxins A-J (SpeA-J), the streptococcal superantigen (SSA), and the streptococcal mitogenic exotoxin Z. These proteins act as superantigens and bind to T cells, thereby stimulating the massive release of inflammatory cytokines leading to tissue damage and shock⁵. In addition to acting as a superantigen, SpeB can also function as a cystein proteinase. A number of host proteins are cleaved by SpeB; e.g. IgG⁵⁴, H-kininogen⁵⁹, fibronectin, and vitronectin⁶⁰. SpeB also modulates the surface of the bacterium by cleaving surface-bound proteins, e.g. M protein and C5a peptidase⁶¹. In addition, SpeB also cleaves the fibronectin-binding protein F1, thereby reducing the adhesion to and entry into host cells⁶².

Streptokinase, a protein secreted by all strains of *S. pyogenes*, converts plasminogen to plasmin⁶³. This protease degrades fibrin clots and several ECM proteins including fibronectin and laminin. The generation of plasmin activity has been shown to facilitate the spreading of *S. pyogenes* in transgenic mice expressing human plasminogen⁶⁴.

The Complement System

The immune system consists of the adaptive, also called the acquired, and the innate immune system. After an infection, the adaptive immune system has developed a "memory" that will recognize the pathogen if the host is reinfected. Antibodies (Abs) are the central part of this memory and are present in secretions, plasma, and all tissue fluids. They recognize an invading pathogen and bind to its surface, thereby labelling it for binding to Fc receptors expressed on phagocytic cells. In addition to mediating Fc-mediated phagocytosis, Abs can also activate the complement system. It should also be mentioned that Abs are involved in mediating allergic reactions and auto-immune diseases.

In a non-immune host, the innate immune system plays an important role in the defence against invading microorganisms. The complement system is part of the innate immune system, consisting of several proteins acting in cascades, aiming at destroying foreign particles – "non-self", either directly or by marking them for subsequent destruction by specific cells. The system also encompasses its own regulators, protecting "self" from complement attack. In addition, it links the adaptive to the innate immune system. The activation of the complement system is tightly regulated at different levels, protecting the host cells from its otherwise devastating effects. Small complement components released during the activation are potent mediators of inflammation, leading to increased vascular permeability and recruitment and activation of inflammatory cells. Deficiencies either in complement components or in the proteins regulating their activation may lead to difficulties clearing certain infections or to development of different immune complex diseases. The focus of this text will be the role of the complement system in the clearance of invading microorganisms.

2.1 Activation of the Complement System

The complement system can be activated by three different pathways (Figure 2.1), converging in a common step leading to the lysis of foreign particles or in the deposition of complement components on the surface of the particle, making it recognizable to phagocytic cells expressing complement receptors. The three pathways are initialized by different stimuli; immune complexes (The Classical Pathway), carbohydrates (Lectin Pathway), or foreign surfaces (The Alternative Pathway). The classical and the lectin pathways converge after the

17



Figure 2.1 An overview of the complement system. Components in rectangles are soluble, whereas components inside ovals are surface bound. The dotted rectangle denotes the C3 tick-over reaction, the wavy rectangle the amplification loop of C3 activation, and the grey rectangle the Terminal Pathway.

initial steps. The classical pathway is a link to adaptive immunity. The complement system is capable of massive amplification; even the smallest initiating stimulus leads to efficient activation.

The Classical Pathway is initiated when an immune complex containing IgM or IgG is bound by C1 (consisting of 1 C1q, 2 C1r, and 2 C1s). Upon binding, one C1r first activates itself before it activates the other C1r and the two C1s. C1s can then bind and activate C4, yielding C4a and C4b*, an unstable product that is rapidly covalently bound to either amine or hydroxyl groups on proteins or carbohydrates on cell surfaces, yielding surface-bound C4b. Cell-bound C4b, in turn, binds C2, which is cleaved by C1s, resulting in C2b and the surface-bound complex C4b2a, the classical pathway C3 convertase.

The Lectin Pathway is initiated in an Ab-independent fashion: mannose binding protein (MBP) can bind to carbohydrates such as mannose and N-acetyl-glycosamine on bacterial surfaces. MBP then forms a complex with mannan-binding protein associated serine protease (MASP). This complex has the same function as C1 in the classical pathway, i.e. cleaving C4 to C4b and C2 to C2a, resulting in the same C3 convertase, C4bC2a.

The Alternative Pathway is another possibility to activate the complement cascade. In plasma, C3 is spontaneously and continuously hydrolyzed to an active form, iC3 (C3(H_2O)), an event termed *C3 tick-over*. iC3 binds factor B, yielding iC3B. Factor B is cleaved by factor D resulting in Ba and the complex iC3Bb, a fluid face C3 convertase cleaving C3 into C3a and C3b*, an unstable product most of which is hydrolyzed and inactivated by water. However, if it comes in contact with a foreign surface, such as bacteria, it will bind covalently to the surface and initiate an *amplification loop of C3 activation* resulting in more C3b being deposited on the surface. The surface-bound C3b interacts with factor B, which is cleaved by factor D to give Ba and the surface-bound complex C3bBb, the alternative pathway C3 convertase.

The two C3 convertases then bind and cleave C3, yielding the C5 convertases C4b2a3b and C3bBb3b, respectively. These convertases bind and cleave C5 into C5a and C5b, initiating *the Terminal Pathway*. C5b, still bound to its convertase, binds C6 and C7, forming a hydrophobic complex, which is released from the convertase and inserts itself into lipid bilayers. C8 then interacts with the complex, making the membrane slightly permeable. Step-wise addition of up to 14 C9 monomers is followed, resulting in a pore (the membrane attack complex, MAC) that effectively lyses the target cell.

2.2 Regulation of the Complement System

If not regulated, activation of the complement system can cause massive inflammation and severe damage to unprotected cells and tissue. An unregulated activation of complement would not only cause local damage, it would also rapidly lead to depletion of complement factors, making the host complement deficient and thus susceptible to disease. The activation cascade is partly regulated by the instability of the convertases and the transient ability of C4b*, C3b*, and the precursors of the MAC to bind to target surfaces. There are also

proteins that regulate the complement cascade at different points. Some of the regulators are membrane-bound, whereas others are present circulating freely in plasma. Regulators of the complement system are summarized in Table 2.1. The modes of action of the different regulators are either by enzymatic cleavage to inactivate a complement component or by destabilizing the convertase complexes, thus leading to their dissociation. Only one positive regulator is known, properdin, which stabilizes C3bBb by binding to C3b.

Regulator (localization)	Function	Pathway(s)
Clinh (P)	- binds activated C1, dissociating the complex	CP, LP
C4BP (P)	 promotes dissociation of convertases cofactor for FI mediated cleaving of C4b 	СР
FH and FHL-1 (P)	promotes dissociation of convertasescofactor for FI mediated cleaving of C3b	AP
FI (P)	- cleaves C3b and C4b in the presence of a cofactor	CP, AP
MCP (M)	- cofactor for FI mediated cleaving of C3b and C4b	CP, AP
DAF (M)	- promotes dissociation of convertases	CP, AP
CR1(P and M)	 promotes dissociation of convertases cofactor for FI mediated cleaving of C3b and C4b 	CP, AP
S protein (P)	- binds C5b67, preventing its binding to membranes	ТР
Clusterin (P)	- binds C5b67, preventing its binding to membranes	ТР
HRF (M)	- binds C8, blocking the assembly of the MAC	ТР
CD59 (M)	- blocks the insertion of more than one C9 in C5b-8	ТР
Properdin (P)	- stabilizes C3bBb	AP

Table 2.1. Regulators of the complement system. P, plasma; M, membrane; CP, Classical Pathway; AP, Alternative Pathway; TP, Terminal Pathway.

The classical pathway is inhibited by C1 inhibitor (C1inh) which binds to the activated C1 complex, leading to the dissociation of C1s and C1r from C1q. Further down in the cascade, C4b-binding protein (C4BP) destabilizes the two convertases C4b2a and C4b2a3b, leading to their dissociation. Factor H (FH) and factor H-like protein-1 (FHL-1) have the same effect on two convertases of the alternative pathway by binding to C3b. Factor I (FI) is a key regulator of the complement system, degrading both C4b and C3b, using different cofactors. In addition to promoting the dissociation of the convertases, C4BP, FH, and FHL-1 can act as cofactors in the FI-mediated degradation of C4b and C3b, C4BP being specific for C4b and FH and FHL-1 for C3b. Membrane cofactor protein (MCP, CD46) is a membrane-bound protein, binding to C4b and C3b in the convertases and acting as a cofactor for FI-mediated degradation of these

molecules, thus inactivating the convertases. Decay accelerating factor (DAF, CD55) is also membrane-bound and binds both C4b and C3b in the convertases, but instead of acting as a cofactor for cleavage, it destabilizes the complexes, leading to their dissociation. CR1 is one of the complement receptors expressed on different cells. It is, however, also an important regulator of complement. First, it can (like MCP) act as a cofactor for FI in the degradion of both C3b and C4b. Second, it destabilizes the convertases, thus leading to their inactivation by dissociation (like DAF).⁶⁵

The terminal pathway is also regulated by different proteins, both soluble and membranebound. S protein and clusterin are plasma proteins that bind C5b67, thereby preventing its binding to membranes. Membrane-bound homologous restriction factor (HRF) binds C8, thereby blocking the assembly of the MAC. Another membrane-bound regulator of the terminal pathway is CD59 which inhibits the formation of MAC by binding to C8 in the C5b678 complex and blocking the insertion of more than one C9.

In addition to surface-bound and circulating regulators, there are other modes of regulating complement activation. On a bacterial surface, deposited C3b has a high affinity for factor B, resulting in the formation of a stable C3bBb complex, whereas, on "self" surfaces, bound C3b binds FH, and C3b is subsequently inactivated by FI. The precise mechanism behind this difference is not fully understood, but the presence of acidic carbohydrates, e.g. sialic acid, seem to favour the degradation of deposited C3b, thus protecting "self" surfaces from amplified C3b deposition. Nucleated cells can also either internalize and degrade MAC or shed MAC on membrane vesicles and in this way protect themselves from the effects of MAC.

The released fragments of C3, C4, and C5 (C3a, C4a, and C5a) are potent mediators of inflammation, C5a being the most potent, followed by C3a. They are also called anaphylatoxins because, when released in large amounts, they lead to the same reactions as in anaphylactic shock: histamine release and smooth muscle contraction leading to vascular leakage. The anaphylactic peptides are regulated by inhibitors in plasma, restricting their activity to the site of complement activation. Their principal inactivator is serum carboxypeptidase-N (anaphylatoxin inactivator), which cleaves the anaphylatoxins in their carboxy-terminal end, making them much less potent.

2.3 Biological Roles of the Complement System

The important roles of the complement system are easily understood when studying patients suffering from deficiencies in this system. Deficiencies of almost all components of the complement system, including the regulators, have been reported. Deficiencies of components of the classical pathway lead to the inability to clear immune complexes, thus leading to immune complex disease. Patients suffering from C3 deficiency will not be able to opsonize bacteria, since C3 is a pivotal component in all three pathways. C3 deficiency will therefore lead to an increased susceptibility to bacterial infections. Deficiencies of terminal pathway components cause increased susceptibility to particularly *Neisseria* infections⁶⁶.

The end point of complement activation on the surface of an invading organism is the formation of the MAC complex leading to complete lysis of the cell. However, e.g. Gram-positive bacteria often express a thick cell wall protecting the membrane from a direct attack by MAC. However, the deposition of complement components on the surface of such organisms, opsonization, is not without effect, since surface bound C4b and C3b and its "break down products" (iC3b and C3dg) are readily recognized by specific complement receptors on phagocytes leading to the effective uptake and killing of these organisms.

C3a and, in particular, C5a are potent chemoattractants leading to the recruitment of inflammatory cells and activation of phagocytes at the site of infection.

The complement system is also involved in the clearance of apoptotic cells via complementmediated phagocytosis⁶⁷.

2.4 Complement Receptors

The different components of C3 act as powerful opsonins, marking "non-self" to be recognized by the host's immune cells. There are four different complement receptors (CRs), designated CR1-4. Their alternative names, cellular distribution, and ligands are summarized in Table 2.2. In addition to acting as a regulator of complement activation, CR1 is mainly involved in the elimination of immune complexes⁶⁵ and binding of complement-opsonized particles, but has also been shown to be involved in phagocytosis⁶⁸. CR2 is an important link between innate and adaptive immunity and has been implicated in maintenance of B cell tolerance against "self"-antigens⁶⁹ and in the regulation of the IgE production⁷⁰. CR3 is involved in adhesion and phagocytosis. CR4 is has been implicated in phagocytosis^{68, 71}. For a more detailed description of CR3 (and CR4) see Chapters 3 and 4.

Receptor	Alternative name	Cellular distribution	Ligands
CR1	CD35	Neutrophils Monocytes Macrophages Erythrocytes B cells Follicular dendritic cells Glomerular epithelial cells	C3b > iC3b C4b
CR2	CD21	B cells Follicular dendritic cells Epithelial cells of cervix Epithelial cells of nasopharynx	iC3b C3dg Epstein-Barr virus Interferon-α
CR3	CD11b/CD18 $\alpha_M \beta_2$ Mac-1 Mo-1	Neutrophils Monocytes Macrophages NK cells Follicular dendritic cells	iC3b fibrinogen ICAM-1 factor X certain bacteria zymosan
CR4	CD11c/CD18 $\alpha_x \beta_2$ p150.95	Neutrophils Monocytes Tissue macrophages Dendritic cells	iC3b fibrinogen

Table 2.2 Complement receptors, their cellular distribution, ligands, and functions.^a

^a In part adopted from Immunology, 4th edition, Roitt, Brostoff, and Male

Maria Weineisen, 2006

The Neutrophil

The neutrophils are part of the body's first line of defence against invading organisms and their main purpose is to recognize, ingest and kill intruders. Patients suffering from defects in neutrophil production or function are susceptible to bacterial infections.

The neutrophils are 10-20 μ m in diameter and make up 50-60% of the total leukocyte population. These cells are also called polymorphonuclear neutrophils (PMNs) or granulocytes, referring to their lobular-shaped nucleus and their large amount of granules. They mature from myelocytes in the bone marrow at an amazing rate of 100×10⁹ per day, adding up to as much as 1.5 tons in a lifetime. The process of maturation takes 10-12 days, but can be accelerated in the case of infection or stress⁷². The neutrophils circulate with the blood, and in the case of the appropriate signals from a site of infection or inflammation they extravasate into the tissue, where they participate in the killing of invading microbes and mediation of acute inflammation. Once they have left the blood stream, they stay in the tissue. The neutrophils life in the blood is very short, with a half-life of 4.5 h⁷³, whereas in tissue, they can live for a few days. The blood pool of neutrophils is renewed within 2-3 days. Neutrophils in the blood die by apoptosis and are cleared by macrophages in the liver, spleen, or lungs⁷⁴.

3.1 Neutrophil Granules and Secretory Vesicles

During their maturation in the bone marrow, the neutrophils are equipped with different granules, containing various proteins, enzymes, and surface receptors important for extravasation and recognition and killing of microorganisms (Table 3.1). The granules are formed during different stages of maturation, and proteins synthesized simultaneously are packaged together^{75, 76}. The first granules to be produced are the azurophil granules (primary granules), followed by specific granules (secondary granules), gelatinase granules (tertiary granules), and secretory vesicles.

The azurophil granules are not easily exocytosed in response to stimulation⁷⁷. These granules are rich in antimicrobial proteins and acidic hydrolases and their primary contribution to neutrophil function is to participate in the killing and degradation of phagocytosed microorganisms in the phagosome. Myeloperoxidase (MPO) amplifies the toxic potential of H_2O_2 formed by the NADPH oxidase⁷⁸. The major constituents of the azurophil granules are

the small, cationic α -defensins. These cytotoxic peptides show antimicrobial activity against bacteria, fungi, enveloped viruses and protozoa⁷⁹. Bactericidal/permeability-increasing protein (BPI) mediates killing of Gram-negative bacteria⁸⁰. Proteinase-3, elastase, and cathepsin G are serine proteases with proteolytic activity against many ECM proteins⁷⁹. In addition, these enzymes are also antimicrobial and induce the activation of e.g. endothelial and epithelial cells, and macrophages⁸¹.

The specific granules participate in the antimicrobial activities of the neutrophil by emptying their content into the phagosome or the exterior of the cell. These granules are rich in antimicrobial substances such as hCAP-18, lactoferrin, and lysozyme. The C-terminal part of hCAP-18, LL-37, has antimicrobial activity against both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria⁸². Lactoferrin impairs bacterial growth by sequestering iron⁸³. Lysozyme cleaves peptidoglycan polymers of bacterial cell walls and is present in all of the granules, but its highest concentrations are found in specific granules. Upon neutrophil activation, cytochrome b₅₅₈ is translocated to the phagosomal membrane or to the surface of the cell, where it functions as part of the NADPH oxidase. Two metalloproteases (MMPs) are found in specific granules; collagenase (MMP-8) and gelatinase (MMP-9).

The gelatinase granules contain gelatinase and leukolysin (MMP-25). The MMPs are stored as inactive proforms and are activated upon exocytosis. These proteases degrade many ECM components such as collagens, laminin, and fibronectin, and are thought to play a role in migration⁸¹. The gelatinase granules also contain membrane receptors and antimicrobial peptides.

high — Density —			
Azurophil granules	Specific granules	Gelatinase granules	Secretory vesicles
MPO	CD11b/CD18	CD11b/CD18	CD11b/CD18
BPI	Cytochrome b ₅₅₈	Cytochrome b ₅₅₈	Cytochrome b ₅₅₈
HBP	hCAP-18	fMLP-R	CD14
Defensins	Lactoferrin	β ₂ -Microglobulin	CR1
Proteinase-3	Lysozyme	Gelatinase	C1q-R
Cathepsins	Collagenase	Lysozyme	DAF
Elastase	Gelatinase	NRAMP-1	HBP
Lysozyme			Plasma proteins

Table 3.1 Selected contents of neutrophil granules and secretory vesicles, for a review see reference [79].

Secretory vesicles contain plasma proteins, which suggests that these vesicles are formed by endocytosis⁸⁴. These vesicles contain cell surface receptors needed at the early stages of neutrophil activation and they are easily exocytosed upon stimulation⁷⁷. Their mobilization leads to the upregulation of CD11b/CD18, the complement receptor 1 (CR1), CD14 (the LPS/ lipteichoic receptor), fMLP-receptors, and CD16 (the FcγRIIIb receptor) on the neutrophil surface⁷⁹. In addition, L-selectin is shed from the neutrophil surface⁸⁵. Due to these changes on the cell surface, the neutrophil can now be firmly attached to the vascular endothelium. The

secretory vesicles are the most easily mobilized, and fuse with the plasma membrane when the neutrophil is activated in the blood stream. This is a means of the neutrophil to regulate its surface expression of adhesion molecules. In addition to surface receptors, the secretory vesicles also contain heparin-binding protein (HBP)⁸⁶, also known as azurocidin or CAP37, which increases vascular permeability⁸⁷, attracts monocytes⁸⁸, and shows antimicrobial activity⁸⁹.

Degranulation of neutrophil granules and secretory vesicles occurs in response to increased intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration. Secretory vesicles are released at the lowest concentration, followed by the gelatinase and specific granules. The azurophilic granules are released at the highest concentration^{77, 90}. In addition to elevations of intracellular Ca²⁺ concentrations, degranulation has also been found to be dependent on the small RhoGTPase Rac2⁹¹.

3.2 Oxidative burst – the NADPH Oxidase

In addition to the microbicidal components in the different granules, the neutrophil also utilizes an oxygen-dependent mechanism for the killing of microorganisms. The NADPH oxidase is composed of one membrane-bound and four cytosolic components. The membranebound component is cytochrome b₅₅₈, mainly present in the membranes of specific and gelatinase granules (85%), but also in the the membrane of secretory vesicles and in the plasma membrane⁹². The cytosolic components are p40^{phox}, p47^{phox}, p67^{phox}, and Rac2⁹³. Upon activation and exocytosis or fusion of granules, the cytosolic components translocate to the cytochrome b₅₅₈ located in the plasma membrane or in the membrane of the newly formed phagosome, and the active NADPH oxidase is formed. Cytochrome b₅₅₈ mediates the translocation of one electron from NADPH to oxygen, generating superoxide anion radical, O, , which is dismutated to hydrogen peroxide, H₂O₂. Neither O₂⁻ nor H₂O₂ has the potential to kill microorganisms, but react with one another and/or other species, generating different toxic compounds. In addition, MPO delivered to the phagosome through the fusion of azurophilic granules, potentiates the microbical effect of H₂O₂ by inducing the formation of reactive intermediates. The MPO-H₂O₂ system mediates the oxidation of e.g. halide compounds, tyrosine, and nitrite into the microbicidal compounds hypochlorous acid (HOCl), tyrosine radicals, and reactive nitrogen intermediates⁹⁴. Activation of the NADPH oxidase can occur in the plasma membrane of the cell, resulting in a localized extracellular production of reactive oxygen species; in the membrane of phagosomes; and in granule membranes⁹². The role of the NADPH oxidase in the killing of invading pathogens is further discussed in section 3.5. The NADPH oxidase has also been shown to be activated independently of phagocytosis95. Besides being involved in killing of microorganisms, the products of the respiratory burst are thought to play a part in apoptosis⁹⁶ and intracellular signalling⁹⁷.

The importance of a functioning NADPH oxidase in the killing of invading pathogens is demonstrated in patients suffering from chronic granulomatous disease (CGD), caused by defects in one or more of the components of the NADPH oxidase. Although neutrophils from these patients are able to phagocytose microorganisms, the phagocytosed microbes are not always killed, and CGD patients suffer from severe recurrent fungal and bacterial infections.

These infections are mainly caused by catalase-producing pathogens and/or microorganisms that are resistant to non-oxidative killing mechanisms, such as various *Aspergillus* species, *Staphylococcus aureus*, and enteric Gram-negative bacteria.⁹⁸ By degrading the small amounts of H_2O_2 produced by the bacteria themselves, catalase prevents MPO from utilizing H_2O_2 for the production of reactive oxygen species, hence inhibiting the subsequent killing of the pathogen.

3.3 Recruitment of Neutrophils to the Site of Infection

To be able to ingest and kill an invading microorganism, the neutrophils must be recruited to the site of infection. In response to inflammatory mediators released, circulating neutrophils are activated. In addition, the endothelial cells lining blood vessels adjacent to the infection site upregulate the expression of receptors that interact with neutrophils. The recruitment of neutrophils is summarized in Figure 3.1.

The first interactions of neutrophils with endothelial cells are weak and occur via different selectins expressed both on neutrophils and endothelial cells. L-selectin (CD62L) is exclusively found on leukocytes and is constitutively expressed. P-selectin (CD62P) is stored inside endothelial cells and is translocated to the surface soon after stimulation with inflammatory mediators⁹⁹ and binds to the neutrophil surface via P-selectin glycoprotein ligand 1 (PSGL-1)¹⁰⁰. Further stimulation of endothelium by cytokines leads to the upregulation of E-selectin (CD62E) after a few hours¹⁰¹, and the expression of ligands for neutrophil L-selectin is initiated. The ligands for the three selectins are mostly glycoproteins carrying e.g. Sialyl Lewis^{x 102}. The weak interactions and the shear stress exerted by the blood flow cause the neutrophils to roll on the endothelium. There is also evidence that $\alpha_4\beta_1$ is involved in the early events of adhesion to endothelium¹⁰³.

During the process of rolling, L-selectin is shed from the surface of the neutrophil¹⁰⁴ and the secretory vesicles fuse with the plasma membrane, thereby upregulating the expression of β_2 integrins, primarily CD11b/CD18, on the surface. These integrins are further activated through "inside-out signalling" (see Chapter 4) induced by the action of chemoattractants, cytokines, and growth factors¹⁰⁵. In addition, endothelial cells in areas of inflammation release reactive oxygen species which also trigger the activation of the β_2 integrins¹⁰⁶. CD1la/CD18 (LFA-1) binds to intercellular adhesion molecules 1 and 2 (ICAM-1 and ICAM-2) on the endothelial cells, and CD11b/CD18 binds ICAM-1¹⁰⁷. The expression of ICAM-1 is upregulated on inflamed endothelium, whereas ICAM-2 is constitutively expressed^{108, 109}. These interactions lead to the adhesion of the neutrophil to the endothelium. Furthermore, engagements of the β_2 integrins induce the surface expression of β_1 integrins such as $\alpha_2\beta_1$ and $\alpha_4\beta_1^{110}$, which both have been found to be implicated in neutrophil adhesion and migration in tissue.

The adhesion of the neutrophil to the endothelium and the upregulation of the expression of β_2 integrins cause the neutrophil to spread on the endothelium. The neutrophil crawls on the endothelium following the chemotactic gradient of surface-bound chemoattractants, a process called haptotaxis. β_2 integrin engagement induces the release of HBP which mediates

an increase in endothelial permeability^{86, 87}. In addition, once the neutrophil is attached to the endothelium, gelatinase granules release their contents of ECM-degrading enzymes, which degrade the basement membrane, thereby facilitating the migration of neutrophils into the tissue^{81, 111, 112}.



Figure 3.1 The process of neutrophil recruitment to a site of infection. The different steps and the receptors involved are indicated.

The final step in extravasation is transendothelial migration which is a rapid event, occuring mainly at tricellular corners¹¹³, although neutrophils have also been shown to use a transcellular route^{114, 115}. Both endothelial cells and neutrophils express the platelet endothelial adhesion molecule-1 (PECAM-1). Transendothelial migration is mediated by PECAM-1 homophilic interactions¹¹⁶. Extravasation and the concomitant release of granules containing surface receptors have also been demonstrated to alter the responsiveness of the neutrophil, e.g. to substances activating the NADPH oxidase¹¹⁷.

In the tissue, the neutrophil moves along the chemotactic gradient of soluble chemoattractants, a process known as chemotaxis, until it reaches the site with the highest concentration. The movement through tissue is mainly mediated by the matrix-binding integrins. The neutrophils possess an intricate mechanism for recognizing the direction of the chemotactic gradient; with receptors working in sequence, desensitizing each other, resulting in the favouring of signals from the end target (C5a and formylated peptides) over "earlier" chemotactic signals (e.g. IL-8 and LTB_4)^{118, 119}.

3.4 Phagocytosis

When the neutrophil has reached the site of infection, it must be able to recognize, bind, and eliminate the invading microorganism. Using different surface receptors recognizing various ligands, the neutrophil binds invading microorganisms. The neutrophil has receptors for antibodies (Fc receptors, FcRs), complement components (complement receptors, CRs), and for conserved bacterial structures (pattern recognition receptors). FcRs and CRs can mediate phagocytosis. Although in the end, the effect of these two events is internalization of the target, the two processes occur by somewhat different mechanisms. FcR-mediated phagocytosis has been found to be accompanied by the activation of the small GTPases Rac and Cdc42, membrane ruffling and the formation of psuedopods (Type I or zipper phagocytosis), whereas in complement mediated phagocytosis the small GTPase RhoA is activated and the target sinks into the cell (Type II or trigger phagocytosis)^{120, 121}. However, these experiments were performed using sheep red blood cells that are significantly larger than live bacteria. In human neutrophils, complement-mediated phagocytosis of pansorbins has been demonstrated to activate Cdc42 and Rac¹²².

3.4.1 Fc Receptors (FcRs)

In order to be able to bind foreign targets coated with Abs, phagocytosing cells express FcRs. Neutrophils express one Fc α R (Fc α RIa) and three different Fc γ Rs on their surface (Fc γ RIa, Fc γ RIIa, and Fc γ RIIIb)¹²⁰. The Fc γ Rs belong to the immunoglobulin gene superfamily and have a common homologous extracellular IgG-binding domain¹²³.

Fc γ RIa (CD64) is expressed on neutrophils stimulated with interferon γ (IFN γ) and exists as a multimeric complex where one α chain is associated with a dimer of disulphide-linked γ chains. The α chain contains three Ig-like extracellular domains, which are responsible for IgG binding, and it binds monomeric IgG with high affinity. Each γ chain contains one immunoreceptor tyrosine activation motif (ITAM) which is responsible for signal transduction.¹²³

FcγRIIa (CD32) is constitutively expressed on neutrophils and consists of one single α chain with two extracellular Ig-like domains and one intracellular ITAM¹²³. It binds IgG with low affinity and does only bind IgG in immune complexes or aggregates. FcγRIIa is considered to be the most important FcR on neutrophils¹²⁴ with 20 000 - 40 000 copies per cell¹²⁵.

FcγRIIIb (CD16) is present only on neutrophils¹²³ where it is expressed constitutively. It is the most abundant of the FcγRs with 100 000 – 300 000 copies per cell¹²⁵, and, in addition, large amounts of FcγRIIIb are stored in secretory vesicles^{126, 127}. It consists of only one α chain with two Ig-like extracellular domains, and has no transmembrane or cytoplasmic domains. Instead, it is linked to the cell membrane by a glycosyl phosphatidyl inositol (GPI) anchor.¹²³ FcγRIIIb is not alone able to trigger phagocytosis, but instead it works in cooperation with either CR3 or FcγRIIa¹²⁸⁻¹³².

Upon crosslinking of the Fc γ R, Src kinases associate to the receptor, are activated, and phosphorylate tyrosine residues within the ITAM. These phosphotyrosines are binding sites for other signalling molecules, e.g. the tyrosine kinase Syk.¹³³ Syk phosphorylates and activates an array of signalling molecules, including PI3-K and PLC γ^{123} . Later downstream the small GTPases Rac and Cdc42 are activated¹²¹. Fc γ R signalling results in increase of intracellular free Ca²⁺, rearrangement of the actin cytoskeleton and finally phagocytosis¹²⁰.

3.4.2 Complement Recptors (CRs)

Neutrophils express three different receptors for complement components: CR1 (CD35), CR3 (CD11b/CD18, $\alpha_M\beta_2$), and CR4 (CD11c/CD18, $\alpha_X\beta_2$). Of these, CR3 is the most abundant, followed by CR1 and CR4. CR1 is a single-chain transmembrane protein recognizing particles covered with C3b, C4b, and iC3b, having highest affinity for C3b. CR1 is considered to mainly participate in the binding of phagocytic prey, and not mediating phagocytosis by itself. In addition, CR1 plays a role in the regulation of complement activation (see Chapter 2). The β_2 integrin CR3 is the main receptor mediating phagocytosis of complement-opsonized particles, binding iC3b (and C3b). In addition, it also binds different matrix proteins. CR4 is also a β_2 integrin and binds iC3b, and has also been implicated in phagocytosis^{68, 71}. However, its role in phagocytosis is not fully understood. For a more detailed description of the integrins, see Chapter 4.

3.4.3 Pattern Recognition Receptors

In addition to CRs and FcRs, which recognize molecules deposited on bacterial surfaces, neutrophils also express receptors that directly bind to bacterial components. One of the most studied groups of such receptors is the group of toll-like receptors, TLRs. So far, ten different TLRs have been identified, out of which neutrophils express all but one (TLR3)¹³⁴. Neutrophil TLRs recognize LPS (TLR4), bacterial lipoproteins and LTA (TLR2 as a heterodimer with TLR1 or TLR6), flagellin (TLR5), unmethylated DNA (TLR9), and single-stranded viral RNA (TLR7)¹³⁵. Engagement of TLRs result in IL-8 production, shedding of L-selectin, priming for fMLP-mediated superoxide generation, decreased chemotaxis, and increased phagocytosis¹³⁴.

3.5 Killing of Microorganisms

The mechanisms by which ingested microbes are killed have been extensively studied. Previously, it was generally believed that the NADPH oxidase in combination with the actions of MPO and the antimicrobial proteins and proteases stored in the granules constituted two different killing mechanisms. However, the relative importance of direct killing by reactive oxygen species generated by the NADPH oxidase and halogenation accomplished by the MPO-H₂O₂ system has been questioned, since the experiments supporting this idea were not carried out under conditions resembling the phagosome regarding e.g. pH and protein concentrations¹³⁶. Instead, the granule enzymes released into the phagosome are thought to be activated by the conditions produced by the influx of ions that compensate for the charge differences induced by the activity of the NADPH oxidase. In this model, the primary role for the NADPH oxidase would thus be to generate an environment in the vacuole facilitating the activation of the different antimicrobial enzymes and not to mediate killing by the production of reactive oxygen species. Hence, in the phagosome, the cationic antimicrobial proteins are activated and released from the negatively charged proteoglycans (to which they are bound when stored in granules) by elevations in pH and the influx of K^{+ 137}. In support of this theory are the observations that individuals deficient in MPO are capable of killing microorganisms⁹⁸, and the finding that double knock-out mice for elastase and cathepsin G show defects in bacterial killing similar to mice lacking a functioning NADPH oxidase137.

In addition to intracellular killing of invading microorganisms, neutrophils can mediate extracellular killing by releasing the content of its granules into the extracellular space. Neutrophils have also been reported to form so called neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) constisting of released chromatin and granule proteins, that bind both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria, degrade virulence factors, and kill the trapped bacteria¹³⁸.

The Integrins

Integrins are important surface receptors linking the ECM to the cytoskeleton. They are present on most cell types and found in many animal species, ranging from sponges to mammals¹³⁹. These glycosylated surface proteins play important roles in intercellular communication and interactions with the ECM. Integrins are composed of two non-covalently linked chains, one α and one β chain. So far, 18 different α chains and 8 different β chains have been identified. One specific α chain can form dimers with different β chains, thus allowing the formation of at least 24 different integrins (Figure 4.1). Each integrin can bind several different ECM proteins, and many matrix proteins are recognized by several integrins. The ligand recognition site is located in the I domain of the α chain^{140, 141}. In addition, the β chain has an I-like domain which is also important for ligand binding^{140, 142}. The I domain contains a "metal ion-dependent adhesion site" – MIDAS, which coordinates Mg²⁺ or Mn²⁺ and binds to negatively charged residues in the ligand^{140, 143}. Furthermore, the ligand often contains an RGD (arginine, glycine, and aspartic acid) motif important for binding. However, this motif is not a prerequisite for binding to β_2 integrins¹⁴⁴. In addition to ECM molecules, integrins also bind soluble ligands and counter-receptors on other cells.



Figure 4.1 The integrin family. The 24 identified heterodimers are indicated.

On a resting cell, the integrins have a conformation with low affinity for their ligand, with the I domain and its MIDAS motif covered by the β chain¹⁴⁴ – the "closed" or inactive state. To be able to bind a ligand, the integrin has to be activated. In addition to affinity changes, the mobility of the integrin in the plasma membrane can be altered, facilitating the local
clustering of integrins. Activation of integrins is referred to as "inside-out" signalling. Upon activation, the integrin changes its conformation, exposing the ligand-binding domains¹⁴⁴ ("open" or active state) and/or can move in the plasma membrane. Different integrins are regulated and activated by different stimuli inducing different signalling pathways. Ligands for G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) (e.g. the chemoattractants IL-8, fMLP, and C5a) are known to activate integrins, but the signalling mechanisms responsible for integrin activation are not fully understood. In addition to GPCRs, other receptors such as $Fc\gamma Rs$ can induce the activation of integrins. The activated integrin binds its ligand with high affinity and transmits signals into the cell – "outside-in" signalling.

Leukocyte integrins are involved in many cellular functions; such as adhesion to the vessel wall prior to extravasation, migration, and recognition and phagocytosis of invading bacteria. Cell-cell contacts mediated by integrins are involved in antigen presentation and cytotoxicity.

4.1 Neutrophil Integrins

Neutrophils express integrins of the β_1 , β_2 , and β_3 family. Their alternative names, selected ligands, and effector functions are indicated in Table 4.1.

Neutrophils express approximately 10^5 integrins of the β_1 (CD29) family (also called very late antigens (VLAs))¹⁴⁵. These integrins bind different components of the ECM and play important roles in adhesion and migration. The major β_1 integrins expressed on human neutrophils are $\alpha_s\beta_1$ and $\alpha_6\beta_1^{145}$. VLA-5 ($\alpha_s\beta_1$) binds fibronectin with high affinity and has been found to be involved in the migration of neutrophils. VLA-4 ($\alpha_4\beta_1$) binds fibronectin and is expressed at very low concentrations on human neutrophils, but is upregulated upon neutrophil transmigration¹⁴⁶. Directional migration in fMLP-mediated chemotaxis has been shown to require $\alpha_4\beta_1$ and $\alpha_1\beta_2$ (LFA-1)¹⁴⁷.

Several studies have demonstrated crosstalk between the β_1 and the β_2 integrins. For example, engagement of activated β_1 integrins has been found to regulate β_2 integrin-mediated adhesion¹⁴⁸⁻¹⁵⁰ and ligation of β_2 integrins induce the surface expression of β_1 integrins¹¹⁰.

The β_2 integrins are exclusively found on leukocytes (lymphocytes, monocytes, and neutrophils). The β_2 integrins are involved in recruitment, adhesion, migration, and phagocytosis. Unstimulated neutrophils express approximately 10⁵ β_2 integrins, and upon stimulation the expression can increase up to fivefold¹⁵¹. On neutrophils, the β_2 chain (designated CD18) forms dimers with three different α chains; α_L (CD11a), α_M (CD11b), and α_X (CD11c). Each integrin has one or more names; hence CD11a/CD18 is also called LFA-1 (lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1) or $\alpha_L\beta_2$; CD11b/CD18 has four alternative names (CR3, Mac-1, Mo-1, and $\alpha_M\beta_2$); and CD11c/CD18 is termed CR4, gp150/95, or $\alpha_X\beta_2$. The most abundant β_2 integrin on neutrophils is CD11b/CD18, followed by CD11a/CD18.

Leukocyte adherence deficiency (LAD) syndrome is a condition where the number of β_2 integrins is absent or greatly reduced on the leukocytes due to a mutation in the β_2 gene. LAD patients suffer from recurrent life-threatening bacterial infections, impaired wound healing,

and tissue remodelling¹⁵². Furthermore, the accumulation of neutrophils and monocytes at sites of infection is impaired, and leukocytes from these patients show defects in adhesion and signalling¹⁴⁴.

Integrin	Alternative names	Selected Ligands	Effector functions
$\alpha_2 \beta_1$	CD49b/CD29 VLA-2	collagen laminin	adhesion migration
$\alpha_3\beta_1$	CD49c/CD29 VLA-3	collagen laminin fibronectin	adhesion (?)
$\alpha_4 \beta_1$	CD49d/CD29 VLA-4	fibronectin VCAM-1	rolling adhesion migration
$\alpha_5\beta_1$	CD49e/CD29 VLA-5	fibronectin	adhesion migration chemotaxis
$\alpha_6 \beta_1$	CD49f/CD29 VLA-6	laminin	adhesion chemotaxis
$\alpha_{9}\beta_{1}$	CD49i/CD29 VLA-9	fibronectin VCAM-1	adhesion chemotaxis
$\alpha_L \beta_2$	CD11a/CD18 LFA-1	ICAM-1 ICAM-2 ICAM-3	adhesion diapedesis
$\alpha_{_M}\beta_2$	CD11b/CD18 CR3 Mac-1 Mo-1	ICAM-1 ICAM-2 fibrinogen iC3b	adhesion chemotaxis phagocytosis degranulation respiratory burst
$\alpha_{_X}\beta_2$	CD11c/CD18 CR4 gp150/95	fibrinogen iC3b	adhesion
$\alpha_V \beta_3$	CD51/CD61	PECAM-1 fibronectin vitronectin	adhesion migration

Table 4.1 Neutrophil integrins, selected ligands and roles in neutrophil function.

FcγR-mediated activation of $\alpha_M \beta_2$ avidity has been demonstrated to involve PI3-K and cytoskeletal rearrangement. In contrast, GPCR-mediated avidity activation of the same integrin was found to be independent of PI3-K and rearrangement of the actin cytoskeleton. However, both of these receptors were found to activate PAK1, an effector of the small GTPases¹⁵³. IL-8-mediated activation of β_2 integrins has been shown to require the activation of the small GTPase RhoA¹⁰⁵. The chemokine-mediated activation of PI3-K has also been demonstrated to activate cytohesin-1, a GEF for the GTPase ARF, which induces LFA-1 activation by direct interaction with the β_2 chain, leading to increased mobility and clustering of the integrin. However, cytohesin-1 was not found to be involved in affinity triggering¹⁵⁴.

CD11b/CD18 is the dominant complement-binding receptor on neutrophils¹⁵⁵, binding iC3b deposited on invading microorganisms. CD11b/CD18 must first be activated in order to be able to phagocytose the microorganism. In addition to the pathways discussed above, it has also been proposed that co-ligation of the lectin site in CD11b/CD18 by microbial surface carbohydrates activates the receptor, making the binding of iC3b deposited on the bacterial or fungal surface sufficient to trigger phagocytosis¹⁵⁵. In addition to mediating complement-dependent phagocytosis, CD11b/CD18 has been shown to interact with the GPI-anchored FcγRIIIb to facilitate Ab-mediated phagocytosis and respiratory burst. Hence, neutrophils from LAD patients demonstrate impaired Ab-dependent phagocytosis¹³². For a detailed discussion on the signalling events elicited upon β_{γ} integrin engagement, see section 4.2.

The $\alpha_{\nu}\beta_{3}$ integrin binds PECAM-1, vitronectin and fibronectin. Interactions between $\alpha_{\nu}\beta_{3}$ expressed on monocytes and endothelial PECAM-1 have been implicated in transendothelial migration of these cells¹⁵⁶ and this integrin has also been demonstrated to be involved in neutrophil migration¹⁵⁷.

4.2 β , Integrin Signalling in Human Neutrophils

The signalling events elicited upon engagement of β_2 integrins in human neutrophils have been extensively studied during the last decade. Most studies have been focused on the signals triggered by β_2 integrin-mediated adhesion to different ECM proteins or in respons to Ab-mediated clustering of the integrins. The signalling events elicited by the activation of β_2 integrins are summarized in Figure 4.2.

 β_2 integrins have no intrinsic enzymatic activity, but rely on the recruitment and activation of other proteins. One of the first events in the β_2 integrin signalling cascade is the activation of *non-receptor tyrosine kinases*. So far, three families of non-receptor tyrosine kinases have been implicated in β_2 integrin signalling; the Src family tyrosine kinases, Syk, and possibly also the FAK family kinases. Three Src kinases have been identified in netrophils; Fgr, Hck, and Lyn. Mice lacking one of the Src kinases have normal neutrophil functions, whereas leukocytes from the double ($hck^{-/}fgr^{-/-}$) and triple ($hck^{-/}fgr^{-/-}$) knock-out mice display impaired migration and reduced inflammatory response¹⁵⁸⁻¹⁶², indicating the importance of these kinases in neutrophil function and "overlapping" functions between the kinases. Another tyrosine kinase, Syk, is normally activated by Src kinase-mediated phosphorylation and has

been shown to form multiprotein complexes with the integrin itself and Src kinases¹⁶³. In neutrophils, spreading, respiratory burst, and degranulation have been shown to be dependent on Syk^{164, 165}. The activation of the FAK family kinases in neutrophils is dependent on Src and Syk, but the importance of these tyrosine kinases in neutrophil function remain largely unknown. One possibility is that FAK acts as a docking protein recruiting other proteins to a signalling complex¹⁶⁶.



Figure 4.2 A model for β , integrin signalling. For a review see references [166] and [167].

A number of proteins are tyrosine phosphorylated upon β_2 integrin engagement, e.g. tyrosine kinases, cytoskeletal proteins, regulators of the small RhoGTPases, and the integrin subunits themselves. Functions such as cytoskeletal rearrangement, motility, and survival, and the production of reactive oxygen intermediates have been demonstrated to depend on the integrin-dependent activation of tyrosine kinases¹⁶⁷.

Phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3-K) is one of the proteins activated downstream of tyrosine kinases. PI3-K is a lipid kinase phosphorylating phosphoinositides at the 3' position of the inositol ring. Upon β_2 integrin engagement in neutrophils, PI3-K activation has been demonstrated to occur possibly through binding to Src tyrosine kinases¹⁶⁸. In addition, PI3-K has also been shown to be activated, by the engagement of β_2 integrins or other receptors, either through association with the docking protein FAK (mouse fibroblasts)¹⁶⁹, or through interactions with the small GTPase Ras^{168, 170, 171}. Activation of PI3-K is associated with its translocation to the plasma membrane where it mainly catalyzes the phosphorylation of phosphatidylinositol-(4,5)-bisphosphate (PIP₂) resulting in phosphatidylinositol-(3,4,5)-trisphosphate (PIP₃). PIP₃ recruits and activates signalling proteins containing PH (pleckstrin homology) domains. Signalling molecules activated by PI3-K and their downstream targets are involved in different cellular responses, including cytoskeletal rearrangements¹⁷².

Phospholipase $C\gamma 2$ (PLC $\gamma 2$) can also be activated by tyrosine phosphorylation in β_2 integrin signalling¹⁷³. This protein catalyzes the breakdown of PIP₂ to diacylglycerol (DAG) and inositol-(1,4,5)-triphosphate (IP₃). IP₃ stimulates the release of Ca²⁺ from intracellular stores¹⁷⁴, which, in turn, leads to actin cytoskeleton rearrangements and the opening of Ca²⁺ channels in the plasma membrane with the subsequent influx of Ca²⁺ from the extracellular environment. The early localized increase of Ca²⁺ is considered to be important for tight adhesion and spreading, while the second wave of Ca²⁺ may be involved in cell movement¹⁶⁷.

Protein kinase *C* (PKC) is a large family of serine/threonine kinases which can be divided into three classes based on their structure and the way they are activated; the classical PKCs are Ca²⁺- and DAG-dependent; the novel PKCs require DAG for activation, but not Ca²⁺; and the atypical PKCs are independent of both Ca²⁺ and DAG¹⁷⁵. PKCs from all three subclasses are found in neutrophils and PKC and its downstream targets are involved in several cell functions, e.g. activation of the NADPH oxidase⁹², phagocytosis¹⁷⁶, and the regulation of the cytoskeleton^{176,177} and its association to the plasma membrane. Some studies put phospholipase D (PLD) downstream of PKC activation¹⁷⁸, whereas the signalling events following clustering of β_2 integrins involve first the activation of PLD and thereafter the activation of PKC¹⁷⁶. This signalling sequence has also been shown to be important for complement-mediated phagocytosis¹⁷⁹. Activated PLD mediates the generation of diglyceride¹⁷⁶, and PLD-activity has been shown to coincide with the generation of reactive oxygen species and lactoferrin secretion¹⁸⁰.

4.2.1 The Rho Family of small GTPases

The Rho family of small GTPases (RhoGTPases) comprises more than 20 different proteins. They are approximately 25 kDa and can associate with the membrane through interaction with their C-terminal end. In neutrophils, three different members have been found to play important roles; Rho, Rac (Rac 1 and Rac2, of which Rac2 comprises >95% of the total Rac¹⁸¹), and Cdc42. Rho is involved in the formation of stress fibres¹⁸², Rac induces the formation of membrane ruffles¹⁸³, and Cdc42 is implicated in the formation of filopodia¹⁸⁴. In addition, Rac2 is a component of the NADPH oxidase⁹³ and has been found to be important for degranulation⁹¹. The RhoGTPases have also been shown to be involved in different cellular processes, such as transcription, cell-cycle progression, and cell adhesion¹⁸⁵.



Figure 4.3 Regulation of the activity of the small Rho GTPases.

The Rho GTPases cycle between a GTP-bound (active) state and a GDP-bound (inactive state. In their GTP-bound state, they can bind to downstream effector proteins. The activation of RhoGTPases is controlled by guaninine nucleotide exchange factors (GEFs) and the deactivation is regulated by GTPase activating proteins (GAPs) (Figure 4.3). GEFs facilitate the exchange of GDP to GTP. Vav, a GEF for the RhoGTPases¹⁸⁶, is activated during β_2 integrin signalling, either through direct tyrosine phosphorylation¹⁸⁷ or downstream PI3-K¹⁸⁸. In addition, Rho GTPases have been shown to be activated by the direct interaction with PIP,¹⁸⁹ or PIP₃¹⁹⁰. Since RhoGTPases possess a low intrinsic GTPase activity (hydrolysis of GTP to GDP), GAPs are needed to accelerate the hydrolysis of GTP. The best characterized GAP for Rho is p190RhoGAP and this protein is activated in a Src kinase-dependent manner¹⁹¹, which leads to the deactivation of RhoA after β , integrin ligation in human neutrophils. Alternatively, the GAP activity of p190RhoGAP may be regulated through β_1 integrin-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation of p190RhoGAP-interacting proteins, e.g. p120RasGAP¹⁶⁶. In addition to GEFs and GAPs, the RhoGTPases are regulated by guanine nucleotide dissociation inhibitors (GDIs). These proteins interact with the lipid-modified C-terminal of the GDP-bound form of the GTPase¹⁹², thereby controlling the cellular location of the GTPase. When the GTPase dissociates from the GDI, it is able to translocate from the cytosol to the membrane.

Studies of phagocytosis by macrophages/cell lines have lead to the general conclusion that phagocytosis mediated by FcRs is dependent on the activation of Cdc42 and Rac2, whereas complement-mediated phagocytosis induces the activaton of RhoA¹²¹. However, β_2 integrin engagement in human neutrophils has been shown to activate both RhoA¹⁹¹ and Cdc42, but not Rac¹⁹³. In addition, complement-mediated phagocytosis of pansorbins by human neutrophils has been shown to activate both Rac and Cdc42¹²². Possible reasons for the discrepancies between these studies could be the cell type studied (mouse macrophage cell line or human neutrophils) and/or the size differences of the phagocytosed particles (red blood cells or pansorbins).

Downstream targets of the RhoGTPases include different proteins regulating the cytoskeleton. Rho kinase (ROK) is activated by Rho and has been demonstrated to be involved in the formation of focal adhesions and stress fibres in fibroblasts^{194,195}. ROK phosphorylates myosin light chain (MLC)¹⁹⁶ and inhibits MLC phosphatase¹⁹⁷. Together, these two events lead to an increase in MLC phosphorylation which promotes the assembly of actomyosin filaments and cell contractility. LIM kinase (LIMK) is another protein that is phosphorylated by ROK¹⁹⁸. Activation of LIMK leads to the stabilization of actin filaments. Together with increased actin polymerization, MLC phosphorylation and LIMK activation lead to the formation of stress-fibres¹⁸⁵.

GTP-bound Cdc42 activates Wiscott-Aldrich syndrome protein (WASP)¹⁹⁹ and related proteins. These proteins interact with the ARP2/3 complex, which stimulates actin polymerization by increasing the number of nucleation sites, leading to increased cellular content of actin filaments²⁰⁰⁻²⁰². Both Rac and Cdc42 regulate the activity of p21-activated kinases (PAKs)¹⁸⁵. The GTPases bind to the Cdc42/Rac interacting binding (CRIB) domain in PAK²⁰³. PAK activity has been shown to be involved in cytoskeleton dynamics²⁰⁴ and to be required for directed cell motility²⁰⁵. Furthermore, in human neutrophils stimulated with chemoattractants or opsonized particles, PAK has been localized to regions of actin polymerization in membrane ruffles, lamellipodia, pseudopodia, and phagocytic cups²⁰⁶. PAK phosphorylates and inactivates MLC kinase²⁰⁷ which leads to decreased actomyosin contraction. In addition, PAK also phosphorylates and activates LIMK²⁰⁸ which induces actin filament stabilization. Together with increased actin polymerization, these two events lead to the formation of lamellipodia and membrane ruffles¹⁸⁵.

Present Investigation

It is well established that the expression of M protein confers *S. pyogenes* with the ability to resist killing when incubated in human blood²⁰⁹ and it has been proposed that the binding of different plasma proteins is important. However, the precise molecular mechanisms are unknown. In blood, the neutrophils are the main cells responsible for the killing of invading microorganisms. These cells possess an array of receptors important for different stages of elimination of invading microorganisms, e.g. binding, ingestion, and killing. One such family of receptors is the integrin family, which is involved in binding to ECM proteins, chemotaxis, binding of complement-opsonized microorganisms, and phagocytosis. The aim of this study was to further investigate the mechanisms explaining the ability of the M protein to mediate resistance to killing by human blood, to study the molecular interactions between human neutrophils and *S. pyogenes*, and to investigate the signals evoked in human neutrophils upon contact with *S. pyogenes*.

Streptococcal M5 protein prevents neutrophil phagocytosis by interfering with CD11b/CD18 receptor-mediated association and signalling (Paper I)

To investigate the mechanisms by which *S. pyogenes* avoids being killed in whole blood, we incubated a wild type strain expressing the M5 protein (M5 bacteria) or a deletion mutant not expressing the M5 protein (Δ M5 bacteria) with human neutrophils in the presence of plasma from non-immune individuals. After different periods of time, we counted the bacteria in the mixtures and compared with the amount of bacteria present at the beginning of the experiment. As expected, the wild-type strain avoided being killed, whereas the number of the deletion mutant had started to decrease already within the first hour of incubation.

To investigate why more $\Delta M5$ than M5 bacteria were killed by the neutrophils, we incubated human neutrophils with bacteria in the presence of plasma from non-immune individuals. After 3 h, the samples were centrifuged onto glass slides, fixed, and to be able to distinguish between extra- and intra-cellular bacteria a double-staining technique was used. The samples were examined by fluorescence microscopy. We found that of neutrophils incubated with $\Delta M5$ bacteria, more than 20% were associated with bacteria, whereas only 7% of the neutrophils that had been incubated with the wild type strain were associated with bacteria, despite the presence of at least 300 times more bacteria in the M5 samples. Moreover, four times more Δ M5 than M5 bacteria had become associated with the neutrophils, demonstrating that M5 protein expression limits the adhesion to human neutrophils. However, the proportion of ingested bacteria relative to the number of bacteria associated with the neutrophils did not differ between the two strains. Thus, of the bacteria that are bound to the neutrophils, the same proportion is ingested, regardless of M protein expression.

Neutrophil adhesion is largely mediated by complement receptors (CRs). To investigate the relationship between CR activation and the killing of Δ M5 bacteria, we studied the effect of two different complement inhibitors on the killing of Δ M5 bacteria. By impairing complement activation with either of the two complement inhibitors, the killing of Δ M5 bacteria. The adhesion of Δ M5 to neutrophils was inhibited by the addition of anti-CD11b Abs. Furthermore, the killing of Δ M5 was also blocked by the addition of blocking Abs directed against CD11b. Together, these results clearly indicate a role for complement activation and CD11b/CD18 (CR3) in the adhesion and the subsequent killing of *S. pyogenes*.

Engagement of CD11b/CD18 on human neutrophils is known to trigger the activation of tyrosine kinases¹⁶⁶ and the subsequent tyrosine phosphorylation of various proteins, including proteins that might be involved in phagocytosis. We found an increase in tyrosine phosphorylation in whole cell lysates of neutrophils that had been incubated with Δ M5 compared to neutrophils incubated with wild type bacteria. The increase in tyrosine phosphorylations of neutrophil proteins could be inhibited by the addition of genistein, a broad tyrosine kinase inhibitor, or by complement impairment. In addition, the killing of Δ M5 by neutrophils was inhibited by the addition of genistein are complement to protein the killing of Δ M5 by neutrophils.



Figure 5.1 A schematic drawing illustrating the key events in the complement-mediated adhesion and phagocytosis of $\Delta M5$ bacteria by human neutrophils. (Modified from Paper I, J Immunol (2004) 172: 3798-807)

Phagocytosis is accompanied by the activation of Rho GTPases¹²¹ and the activation of these GTPases has been shown to be dependent on tyrosine kinases²¹⁰. We found that CR3-mediated killing of Δ M5 bacteria triggers the activation of Cdc42, but not Rac2, and that this activation was dependent on tyrosine phosphorylation. In addition, the activation of Cdc42 could be inhibited by impaired complement activation or by the addition of anti-CD11b Abs. The results presented in Paper I are summarized in the model depicted in Figure 5.1.

Critical role for CD11b/CD18 but not for FcRs, in the killing of S. pyogenes by neutrophils in human immune serum (Paper II)

S. pyogenes is killed by human neutrophils in the presence of opsonizing serotype-specific Abs. To elucidate the mechanisms by which *S. pyogenes* is killed in the presence of immune serum, we identified three donors in whose blood specific *S. pyogenes* strains were unable to grow. We found that the component in serum responsible for the killing of the bacteria was IgG directed against the variable N-terminal part of the M protein.

Neutrophils express several receptors known to mediate the killing of opsonized microorganisms. To determine the receptor(s) expressed on neutrophils mediating the killing of *S. pyogenes* in the presence of type-specific Abs, we added function-blocking Abs directed against different FcRs and CRs to a mixture of neutrophils, serum from immune individuals, and bacteria. Only Abs directed against CD11b, but not Abs directed against FcRs or other CRs, blocked the killing of the bacteria. Killing of the bacteria in the presence of immune serum was also inhibited by the addition of either of two complement inhibitors. Furthermore, more C3 and C4 fragments were deposited on bacteria incubated in immune serum as compared to bacteria that had been incubated with serum from non-immune individuals. Together, these findings emphasize the role of complement in the killing of *S. pyogenes* in the presence of immune serum and suggest that the primary role of the M protein-specific Abs is to activate complement.

To further investigate the role of complement activation, sera from immune individuals were depleted from C1q and Factor D. When depleted serum was used in the survival experiments, the bacteria grew. The killing of the bacteria was restored when adding Factor D, but not C1q, to the mixture, strongly indicating a role for the alternative pathway of complement activation.

Once ingested, the phagocytosed microorganisms are killed by the combined action of oxidative and non-oxidative mechanisms¹³⁶. It is generally believed that phagocytosis mediated by FcRs, but not by CR3, leads to oxidative burst. However, we show that, in serum from immune individuals, CR3-mediated killing of *S. pyogenes* is accompanied by induction of the respiratory burst. Inhibition of complement activation and Abs directed against CD11b, but not against CD32 (Fc γ RIIa), reduced the activation of the respiratory burst.

In accordance with the results in Paper I, CR3-mediated killing of *S. pyogenes* in the presence of serum from immune individuals was accompanied by increased levels of activated Cdc42 and this activation was inhibited by impaired complement activation.

In summary, M protein-specific Abs activate the complement cascade resulting in complementdeposition on the surface of *S. pyogenes* and the subsequent CR3-mediated binding and killing. The activation of CR3 is accompanied by activation of the small GTPase Cdc42 and induction of the respiratory burst.

A role for the fibrinogen-binding regions of streptococcal M proteins in phagocytosis resistance (Paper III)

All virulent strains of *S. pyogenes* bind fibrinogen (Fg), but the role of Fg-binding in the pathogenesis of this bacterium is not known. To study the molecular requirements and biological consequences of Fg-binding, we studied a *S. pyogenes* strain expressing the M1 protein and the strain M5 Manfredo (also used in Paper I). Both of these M proteins bind Fg. However, we found that these two M proteins bind to different regions of Fg, since one protein failed to block the Fg-binding of the other. To determine which part of the M protein is responsible for Fg-binding, different deletion mutants of the M5 protein lacking different regions of the protein were constructed. The proteins were expressed in *Escherichia coli* and tested for Fg-binding. The protein lacking all four B repeats (M5 Δ B) failed to bind Fg in several test systems. In addition, the Δ M5 strain expressing M5 Δ B on its surface did not bind Fg, demonstrating that the B repeats of M5 are required for Fg-binding.

The M1 protein has two B repeats which show little similarity to the B repeats in the M5 protein. However, the B repeats in M1 are located in the same area of the protein as the B repeats in M5. Based on their size, repetitive structure, and location in the protein we hypothesized that the B repeats of M1 are responsible for Fg-binding. To further investigate the Fg-binding properties of the B repeats of the M1 and M5 proteins, the IgA-binding region of Emm4, a streptococcal protein that does not bind Fg, was replaced with the B repeats from the two M proteins, resulting in the two chimeric proteins Emm4/M5B1-4 and Emm4/M1B1-2. The two chimeric proteins both bound Fg and Δ M5 streptococci expressing either of the two proteins also bound Fg.

Finally, M5, M5 Δ B, Emm4, Emm4/M1B1-2, and Emm4/M5B1-4 were expressed on the surface of the Δ M5 strain. The resulting strains were incubated for 3 h in human whole blood and tested for survival. The strain expressing the M5 Δ B protein showed reduced survival as compared to the strain expressing the entire M5 protein. Bacteria expressing the Emm4 protein were readily killed. In contrast, strains expressing proteins harbouring Fg-binding B repeats, either originating from the M1 (Emm4/M1B1-2) or the M5 (Emm4/M5B1-4) proteins, resisted killing. Taken together, these results clearly demonstrate the importance of Fg-binding for the ability of the M protein to confer *S. pyogenes* with resistance to killing in whole blood.

To summarize, we localized the Fg-binding of the M1 and M5 proteins to the B repeats and demonstrated that the binding of this plasma protein is important for the resistance to killing in human blood.

Adhesion of Streptococcus pyogenes to phagocytic cells is achieved by two distinct mechanisms that are both blocked by M protein expression (Paper IV)

Most studies of *S. pyogenes* – neutrophil interactions have been done under conditions reflecting bacteremia, i.e. at a low bacteria to neutrophil ratio (multiplicity of infection, MOI). Under these conditions, as demonstrated in Papers I and II, the deposition of complement components and binding to CD11b/CD18 on the neutrophils mediate adhesion and subsequent ingestion and killing. However, at the initial stages of infection, occurring at skin or mucosal surfaces, the bacteria to neutrophil ratio is much higher. In Paper IV, we investigated the molecular interactions between *S. pyogenes* and phagocytes in different model systems reflecting a low and high MOI, respectively, and the role of M protein expression in these situations.

In the model reflecting the conditions in bacteremia (low MOI) the adhesion of $\Delta M5$ to neutrophils was inhibited by the addition of anti-CD11b Abs, but not by Abs directed against β_1 and β_3 integrins, clearly establishing the role of complement deposition and CD11b/CD18 (CR3) in the adhesion of *S. pyogenes* to human neutrophils.

To study the interactions at a higher MOI, we measured aggregation of phagocytes induced by *S. pyogenes* in the presence of human plasma. In contrast to bacteria expressing M protein, streptococci not expressing M protein induced aggregation of the phagocytes. Inhibition of complement activation did not affect the aggregation of the phagocytes, excluding a role for complement in the interactions between *S. pyogenes* and phagocytes at high MOI. By analysing plasma proteins that had bound to $\Delta M5$ bacteria, we identified fibronectin (Fn) as a major protein deposited on streptococci not expressing M protein. A fragment of Fn known to account for the binding of Fn to *S. pyogenes* inhibited the aggregation induced by streptococci not expressing M protein. In addition, these bacteria were able to induce aggregation of the phagocytes in the absence of plasma when Fn was added to the mixture. To further confirm the role of Fn for aggregation, we used plasma from mice carrying an inducible tissue-specific deletion of the Fn gene. In the presence of Fn-deficient plasma, streptococci not expressing M protein failed to induce aggregation of the phagocytes.

Phagocytes express different integrins known to bind Fn. To determine the integrins that are involved in the Fn-mediated adhesion to streptococci, Abs directed against different integrins and different peptides mimicking integrin-binding sites in Fn were added to the mixtures of phagocytes, streptococci not expressing M protein, and plasma. Aggregation of the phagocytes was inhibited by peptides mimicking sequences in Fn that account for binding to $\alpha_s\beta_1$ and $\alpha_v\beta_3$. In contrast, a control peptide or a peptide mimicking the $\alpha_4\beta_1$ integrin binding site in Fn was not able to inhibit aggregation. In addition, neither Abs directed against α_m (CD11b) or α_4 inhibited the aggregation. However, Abs directed against α_s , β_1 , and β_3 inhibited the aggregation, further supporting a role for these integrins in the interaction with *S. pyogenes* at high MOI.

In another model mimicking conditions relevant for the initial recognition of bacteria by phagocytes at mucosal or skin surfaces, streptococci were immobilized on a cover slip and subjected to a continuous flow of phagocytes. The cells adhered more efficiently to streptococci not expressing M protein than to wild type bacteria. Further, the adhesion was inhibited by a peptide mimicking the sequences in Fn that account for binding to $\alpha_{s}\beta_{1}$ and $\alpha_{v}\beta_{3}$ and by Abs directed against β_{1} , and β_{3} , but not by anti- α_{M} (CD11b) Abs.

In conclusion, at low MOI, resembling the situation in bacteremia, the interaction between *S. pyogenes* and phagocytes depends on the binding of complement components deposited on the bacterial surface and CD11b/CD18 (CR3) on the neutrophil surface. In contrast, at high MOI, resembling the situation on skin and mucosal surfaces, Fn bound to the surface of *S. pyogenes* interacts with $\alpha_s \beta_1$ and $\alpha_v \beta_3$ expressed by the phagocytes.

Conclusions

- In the presence of plasma from non-immune individuals, *S. pyogenes* avoids killing by human neutrophils by M protein-mediated inhibition of adhesion to the neutrophils
- Phagocytosis of *S. pyogenes* in the presence of plasma from non-immune individuals is mediated by CD11b/CD18 and is accompanied by activation of tyrosine kinases and the small GTPase Cdc42
- In the presence of serum from immune individuals, the killing of *S. pyogenes* is mediated through activation of the complement system by M protein-specific Abs and activation of CD11b/CD18 and Cdc42 followed by phagocytosis
- The B repeats of the M1 and M5 proteins are responsible for the Fg-binding to M1 and M5 streptococci and the Fg-binding B repeats of M1 and M5 are important for *S. pyogenes* in mediating resistance to killing in human blood
- At low MOI, resembling the situation in bacteremia, the interaction between *S. pyogenes* and phagocytes depends on the binding of complement components deposited on the bacterial surface and CD11b/CD18 (CR3) on the neutrophil surface
- At high MOI, resembling the situation on skin and mucosal surfaces, Fn bound to the surface of *S. pyogenes* interacts with $\alpha_{s}\beta_{1}$ and $\alpha_{v}\beta_{3}$ expressed by the phagocytes

Maria Weineisen, 2006

Populärvetenskaplig Sammanfattning

Streptococcus pyogenes (Grupp A streptokocker) är en bakterie som oftast orsakar vanliga okomplicerade infektioner hos människan, t ex halsfluss, scharlakansfeber och svinkoppor. Denna bakterie kan dock även ge upphov till allvarliga och livshotande tillstånd där patienten kan vara död inom loppet av några få dygn – *S. pyogenes* kallas därför ofta för "mördarbakterie" i kvällspressen. Varje år drabbas ungefär 600 000 människor världen över av sådana allvarliga infektioner och av dessa dör ca 30%. Efter obehandlade infektioner orsakade av *S. pyogenes* drabbas vissa patienter av akut reumatisk feber (ARF), som angriper bl a hjärtat och lederna. ARF är en viktig orsak till hjärt-kärlsjukdomar i utvecklingsländerna och orsakar 230 000 dödsfall årligen. Sammanlagt är runt 15 miljoner människor drabbade av ARF. WHO uppskattar att omkring 500 000 människor dör varje år till följd av allvarliga infektioner orsakade av *S. pyogenes*.

För att kunna infektera människan är S. pyogenes utrustade med diverse s k virulensfaktorer. Dessa virulensfaktorer är olika proteiner som ansvarar för vidhäftning till mänskliga celler, underlättar för bakterien att tränga sig djupare in i vävnaden eller förhindrar människans immunsystem från att döda bakterien. En sådan viktig virulensfaktor är det s k M-proteinet, som S. pyogenes har på sin yta. M-proteinet bildar en spiral och två spiraler snurrar sig runt varandra (se Figur 1.1). Det finns fler än 100 olika typer av M-protein. En bakterie har bara en typ av M-proteiner på sin yta. När vi fått en infektion bildar kroppen antikroppar mot den infekterande bakteriens M-protein. Dessa antikroppar skyddar oss mot att bli sjuka av samma bakterie en gång till. Detta förklarar varför vi kan få halsfluss flera gånger under livet – det finns ju fler än 100 olika M-proteiner! M-proteinet har visat sig vara viktigt för flera olika steg i infektionsprocessen; ansvara för vidhäftning till mänskliga celler, möjliggöra för bakterien att ta sig djupare in i vävnaden och skydda mot människans försvar. En viktig egenskap hos M-proteinet är dess förmåga att skydda S. pvogenes mot effektiv avdödning genom att hindra vita blodkroppar från att äta upp (fagocytera) bakterien det sitter på. M-proteinet binder olika proteiner som finns i blodplasma, t ex proteiner som reglerar komplementsystemet (se nedan) och fibrinogen.

Komplementsystemet tillhör vårt medfödda försvar mot inkräktande mikroorganismer. Detta system består av en kaskad av flera olika proteiner (se Figur 2.1) och kan aktiveras direkt på en främmande yta eller av antikroppar som fastnat på t ex en bakterie. Komplementsystemet har i princip två viktiga funktioner; punktera främmande celler så att de dör och att märka

ut främmande celler så att de känns igen av strukturer (*komplementreceptorer*) på vita blodkroppar så att dessa celler kan fagocytera och döda inkräktarna.

De vita blodkropparna (*neutrofilerna*) finns i blodet och är viktiga celler när det gäller att försvara oss mot infekterande mikroorganismer. Dessa celler tillverkas i benmärgen med en förunderlig hastighet av 100×10⁹ per dag (totalt så mycket som 1.5 ton neutrofiler under ett helt liv!). De tar ungefär 10 dagar för att mogna i benmärgen och lever i blodet endast några timmar. Efter 2-3 dagar är hela gruppen neutrofiler utbytt. Vid en infektion kallas neutrofilerna dit (se Figur 3.1) och vandrar från blodet ut i vävnaden för att känna igen, fagocytera och döda de invaderande bakterierna. I vävnaden kan neutrofilerna leva ett par dagar. För att känna igen, binda och fagocytera bakterierna har neutrofilen olika strukturer, *receptorer*, på sin yta. Dessa receptorer fäster till antikroppar eller komplementkomponenter som fastnat på bakterierytan. Neutrofilerna är packade med små blåsor som innehåller ämnen som är giftiga för bakterier. Tillsammans med mycket giftiga syreradikaler som också bildas vid denna process bidrar dessa ämnen till att bakterierna oskadliggörs och dör.

En viktig grupp av receptorer på neutrofiler är *integrinerna*. Dessa består av två olika kedjor, en α -kedja och en β -kedja. Integriner har visat sig vara viktiga för neutrofilen då den tar sig från blodet ut i vävnaden, för rörelse genom vävnaden och för igenkänning och fagocytos av invaderande mikrooganismer. Integriner binder till olika strukturer i kärlväggen och i vävnaden och till komplementkomponenter på t ex bakterier. En viktig grupp integriner på neutrofiler är de sk β_2 -integrinerna. Dessa integriner är viktiga för att neutrofilen ska kunna ta sig ut ur blodet och fram till bakterierna i vävnaden. Dessutom är en av β_2 -integrinerna, $\alpha_M \beta_2$ (även kallad komplementreceptor 3, *CR3*) en av de viktigaste receptorerna för komplementkomponenter och kan även "säga till" (*signalera*) till neutrofilen att den ska fagocytera bakterierna.

Målet med den här avhandlingen var att vidare studera de mekansimer som ligger till grund för M-proteinets förmåga att förse *S. pyogenes* med egenskapen att motstå avdödning i mänskligt blod, att studera de molekylära interaktionerna mellan neutrofiler och *S. pyogenes*, samt att studera signalering i neutrofiler som kommit i kontakt med denna bakterie.

I delarbete I studerade vi vilka mekanismer som ligger till grund för förmågan hos *S. pyogenes* att motstå avdödning av neutrofiler i närvaro av plasma från icke-immuna individer. Vi använde två olika stammar; en vildtyp-stam som uttrycker ett M-protein som kallas M5 och en mutant stam som inte uttrycker något M5-protein (Δ M5). Vi fann att anledningen till att M5 stammen inte dödas var att M5-proteinet hindrade neutrofilerna att känna igen bakterien och fästa vid den. Genom att använda Δ M5 som modell visar vi att neutrofilen huvudsakligen känner igen streptokocker och dödar dessa via CR3-medierad fagocytos. Vidare fann vi att aktivering av CR3 via interaktion med komplementkomponenter på ytan av *S. pyogenes* leder till aktivering av sk *tyrosinkinaser* och aktivering av det lilla RhoGTPaset Cdc42.

I delarbete II studerade vi hur antikroppar från immuna individer leder till avdödning av *S. pyogenes* genom neutrofiler. Vi fann att de antikroppar som ledde till avdödning var riktade mot den yttersta delen av M-proteinet och att dessa antikroppar ledde till aktivering av

komplementsystemet. Avdödning i närvaro av M-protein-specifika antikroppar skedde även i detta fall via aktivering av CR3 och Cdc42.

Alla sjukdomsframkallande stammar av *S. pyogenes* binder fibrinogen som finns i plasma, men vilken roll denna bindning spelar för infektionsprocessen är inte helt klarlagd. I delarbete III visar vi att M-proteiner binder fibrinogen till de delar av M-proteinet som kallas för B-domänerna. Vi fann dessutom att fibrinogen-bindningen till M-proteinet var viktig för bakteriens förmåga att motstå avdödning i mänskligt blod, eftersom bakterier med Mproteiner utan B-domäner dödades medan vildtypen överlevde.

De modellsystem som används i delarbete I - III liknar förhållanden som råder vid blodförgiftning, dvs i lösning och med få bakterier och många neutrofiler (ett lågt "multiplicity of infection", *MOI*). I de första stadierna av en infektion (som sker på hud och slemhinnor) är förhållandena dock de omvända, dvs många bakterier i förhållande till neutrofiler (ett högt MOI). I delarbete IV använde vi olika modellsystem för att studera interaktionerna mellan *S. pyogenes* och neutrofiler vid olika MOI. Vi fann att vid ett lågt MOI beror interaktionen mellan *S. pyogenes* och neutrofiler på bindningen av komplementkomponenter på bakterieytan till CR3 på neutrofilen. Vid ett högt MOI däremot, interagerar fibronektin som bundit till bakterieytan med två andra integriner, $\alpha_s \beta_1$ och $\alpha_v \beta_3$, på neutrofilerna. Maria Weineisen, 2006

Acknowledgements

Without the help and encouragement from others, this thesis would never have been written and I therefore want to take the opportunity to express my deepest thank you to...

... my supervisors **Ulf Sjöbring** and **Tommy Andersson** for encouragement, enthusiasm, creativity, and for guiding me into the world of science

... my co-supervisor, **Maria Fällman**, for taking good care of me during my stay in Umeå, and for teaching me about phagocytosis

... Karim Dib for being a great "neighbour" during my years in Malmö, and for teaching me about neutrophils, pillow gels, and Rho GTPases

... my co-authors

Jag vill dessutom tacka...

... alla er som donerat blod till mina försök; utan er hade det verkligen inte blivit någon avhandling! Tusen tack!

... **Babu** på MIG och **Alva** på Exppat, som hjälpt till med allt det praktiska, och A**nita** på B14 som också hjälpt mig med praktiska saker, trots att jag inte hört till ditt "ansvarsområde"!

... "Ulfs grupp": Heike, Mikael, Henrik, Ulrika, Andreas (även om det inte var så länge du tillhörde vår grupp) för att ni lärt mig hur man håller en pipett och hur man gör ett "fagocytosförsök", för flytthjälp, för intressanta och roliga diskussioner, för blod, för julfester och utflykter... Maria N, ett speciellt tack till dig för mycket skratt och fin vänskap – och roligt resesällskap!... Malgorzata för att du stått ut med att göra mina låååånga försök och för att du gjort dem så bra! Du är fantastisk! och Maria B för all hjälp med mina försök den sista tiden – bra räknat! Dessutom är det alltid så intressant att prata med dig!

... alla på B14/BMC i Lund och på Exppat i Malmö som gör det till så roliga ställen att arbeta på. Tack för lunchsällskap, fikastunder, julfester, operabesök... Ett speciellt tack till Victoria, min nya rumskamrat, för trevliga pratstunder, till Isabella för god vänskap, uppmuntran och roliga luncher och till Lena för vänskap och all hjälp med allt

... **mina vänner** för alla kalas, cykelturer, promenader, fester, pratstunder, julpyssel, danser, simturer, tid på Gerdahallen, luncher, picknick-turer, kronviltspaning, fikastunder...

... Ingegerd och Knut, Carina och Peter - Jörgens familj och min "svärfamilj", för att ni får mig att trivas i Skåne

... min mormor Vera som alltid var så stolt över mig och intresserad av vad jag gjorde

... Mamma Inger och Papa Franz, världens bästa föräldrar, för att ni vet vad som är viktigt i livet och för att ni lärt mig allt som är värt att veta! Tack för att ni alltid tror på mig och tar hand om mig!

... (lille)bror Henrik, min bästa vän. Du är go' att ha – och du, tack för blodet... Nu väntar vi bara på din bok!

... Erik-mannen, för att du är så go'! (... och för att du tycker det är roligt att höra om bakterierna i halsen och de snälla bollarna som kommer dit och skrämmer iväg dem...)

... Jörgen, sist, och mest, för att du är du – och min!

My position as PhD student was funded by The Infection & Vaccinology Programme (the Swedish Foundation for Strategic Research).

References

- 1. Lancefield, R. C. A serological differentiation of human and other groups of hemolytic streptococci. *J Exp Med* (1933) 57: 571-95.
- Carapetis, J. R., Steer, A. C., Mulholland, E. K. & Weber, M. The global burden of group A streptococcal diseases. *Lancet Infect Dis* (2005) 5: 685-94.
- 3. Olivier, C. Rheumatic fever is it still a problem? *J Antimicrob Chemother* (2000) 45 Suppl: 13-21.
- Phillips, G. N., Jr., Flicker, P. F., Cohen, C., Manjula, B. N. & Fischetti, V. A. Streptococcal M protein: α-helical coiled-coil structure and arrangement on the cell surface. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1981) 78: 4689-93.
- 5. **Cunningham, M. W.** Pathogenesis of group A streptococcal infections. *Clin Microbiol Rev* (2000) **13**: 470-511.
- Fischetti, V. A., Pancholi, V. & Schneewind, O. Conservation of a hexapeptide sequence in the anchor region of surface proteins from gram-positive cocci. *Mol Microbiol* (1990) 4: 1603-5.
- Chen, C., Bormann, N. & Cleary, P. P. VirR and Mry are homologous trans-acting regulators of M protein and C5a peptidase expression in group A streptococci. *Mol Gen Genet* (1993) 241: 685-93.
- McLandsborough, L. A. & Cleary, P. P. Insertional inactivation of *virR* in *Streptococcus pyogenes* M49 demonstrates that VirR functions as a positive regulator of ScpA, FcRA, OF, and M protein. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* (1995) 128: 45-51.
- 9. Rasmussen, M., Edén, A. & Björck, L. SclA, a novel collagen-like surface protein of *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *Infect Immun* (2000) 68: 6370-7.
- Kihlberg, B. M., Cooney, J., Caparon, M. G., Olsén, A. & Björck, L. Biological properties of a *Streptococcus pyogenes* mutant generated by Tn916 insertion in *mga*. *Microb Pathog* (1995) 19: 299-315.
- Caparon, M. G. & Scott, J. R. Identification of a gene that regulates expression of M protein, the major virulence determinant of group A streptococci. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (1987) 84: 8677-81.

- McIver, K. S., Heath, A. S. & Scott, J. R. Regulation of virulence by environmental signals in group A streptococci: influence of osmolarity, temperature, gas exchange, and iron limitation on *emm* transcription. *Infect Immun* (1995) 63: 4540-2.
- Navarre, W. W. & Schneewind, O. Surface proteins of gram-positive bacteria and mechanisms of their targeting to the cell wall envelope. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* (1999) 63: 174-229.
- O'Toole, P., Stenberg, L., Rissler, M. & Lindahl, G. Two major classes in the M protein family in group A streptococci. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1992) 89: 8661-5.
- Bessen, D., Jones, K. F. & Fischetti, V. A. Evidence for two distinct classes of streptococcal M protein and their relationship to rheumatic fever. *J Exp Med* (1989) 169: 269-83.
- Okada, N., Liszewski, M. K., Atkinson, J. P. & Caparon, M. Membrane cofactor protein (CD46) is a keratinocyte receptor for the M protein of the group A streptococcus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1995) 92: 2489-93.
- Cue, D., Dombek, P. E., Lam, H. & Cleary, P. P. Streptococcus pyogenes serotype M1 encodes multiple pathways for entry into human epithelial cells. *Infect Immun* (1998) 66: 4593-601.
- Ryan, P. A., Pancholi, V. & Fischetti, V. A. Group A streptococci bind to mucin and human pharyngeal cells through sialic acid-containing receptors. *Infect Immun* (2001) 69: 7402-12.
- Ben Nasr, A. B., Herwald, H., Müller-Esterl, W. & Björck, L. Human kininogens interact with M protein, a bacterial surface protein and virulence determinant. *Biochem* J (1995) 305 (Pt 1): 173-80.
- Ben Nasr, A., Herwald, H., Sjöbring, U., Renne, T., Müller-Esterl, W. & Björck, L. Absorption of kininogen from human plasma by *Streptococcus pyogenes* is followed by the release of bradykinin. *Biochem J* (1997) 326 (Pt 3): 657-60.
- Kantor, F. S. Fibrinogen Precipitation by Streptococcal M Protein. I. Identity of the Reactants, and Stoichiometry of the Reaction. *J Exp Med* (1965) 121: 849-59.
- Johnsson, E., Thern, A., Dahlbäck, B., Hedén, L. O., Wikström, M. & Lindahl, G. A highly variable region in members of the streptococcal M protein family binds the human complement regulator C4BP. *J Immunol* (1996) 157: 3021-9.
- Fischetti, V. A., Horstmann, R. D. & Pancholi, V. Location of the complement factor H binding site on streptococcal M6 protein. *Infect Immun* (1995) 63: 149-53.
- Johnsson, E., Berggård, K., Kotarsky, H., Hellwage, J., Zipfel, P. F., Sjöbring, U. & Lindahl, G. Role of the hypervariable region in streptococcal M proteins: binding of a human complement inhibitor. *J Immunol* (1998) 161: 4894-901.
- 25. **Bessen, D. E.** Localization of immunoglobulin A-binding sites within M or M-like proteins of group A streptococci. *Infect Immun* (1994) **62**: 1968-74.
- Johnsson, E., Andersson, G., Lindahl, G. & Hedén, L. O. Identification of the IgAbinding region in streptococcal protein Arp. *J Immunol* (1994) 153: 3557-64.

- Frick, I. M., Åkesson, P., Cooney, J., Sjöbring, U., Schmidt, K. H., Gomi, H., Hattori, S., Tagawa, C., Kishimoto, F. & Björck, L. Protein H - a surface protein of Streptococcus pyogenes with separate binding sites for IgG and albumin. *Mol Microbiol* (1994) 12: 143-51.
- Frick, I. M., Crossin, K. L., Edelman, G. M. & Björck, L. Protein H a bacterial surface protein with affinity for both immunoglobulin and fibronectin type III domains. *Embo J* (1995) 14: 1674-9.
- Wistedt, A. C., Ringdahl, U., Müller-Esterl, W. & Sjöbring, U. Identification of a plasminogen-binding motif in PAM, a bacterial surface protein. *Mol Microbiol* (1995) 18: 569-78.
- 30. Whitnack, E. & Beachey, E. H. Antiopsonic activity of fibrinogen bound to M protein on the surface of group A streptococci. *J Clin Invest* (1982) **69**: 1042-5.
- Sandin, C., Carlsson, F. & Lindahl, G. Binding of human plasma proteins to Streptococcus pyogenes M protein determines the location of opsonic and non-opsonic epitopes. Mol Microbiol (2006) 59: 20-30.
- Berggård, K., Johnsson, E., Morfeldt, E., Persson, J., Stålhammar-Carlemalm, M. & Lindahl, G. Binding of human C4BP to the hypervariable region of M protein: a molecular mechanism of phagocytosis resistance in *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *Mol Microbiol* (2001) 42: 539-51.
- Carlsson, F., Berggård, K., Stålhammar-Carlemalm, M. & Lindahl, G. Evasion of phagocytosis through cooperation between two ligand-binding regions in *Streptococcus pyogenes* M protein. *J Exp Med* (2003) 198: 1057-68.
- Kotarsky, H., Gustafsson, M., Svensson, H. G., Zipfel, P. F., Truedsson, L. & Sjöbring, U. Group A streptococcal phagocytosis resistance is independent of complement factor H and factor H-like protein 1 binding. *Mol Microbiol* (2001) 41: 817-26.
- 35. Pankov, R. & Yamada, K. M. Fibronectin at a glance. J Cell Sci (2002) 115: 3861-3.
- 36. Sechler, J. L., Cumiskey, A. M., Gazzola, D. M. & Schwarzbauer, J. E. A novel RGD-independent fibronectin assembly pathway initiated by $\alpha_4\beta_1$ integrin binding to the alternatively spliced V region. *J Cell Sci* (2000) **113** (Pt 8): 1491-8.
- 37. Wierzbicka-Patynowski, I. & Schwarzbauer, J. E. The ins and outs of fibronectin matrix assembly. *J Cell Sci* (2003) 116: 3269-76.
- 38. Courtney, H. S., Hasty, D. L. & Dale, J. B. Molecular mechanisms of adhesion, colonization, and invasion of group A streptococci. *Ann Med* (2002) 34: 77-87.
- Ozeri, V., Rosenshine, I., Ben-Ze'Ev, A., Bokoch, G. M., Jou, T. S. & Hanski, E. De novo formation of focal complex-like structures in host cells by invading Streptococci. Mol Microbiol (2001) 41: 561-73.
- 40. Nyberg, P., Sakai, T., Cho, K. H., Caparon, M. G., Fässler, R. & Björck, L. Interactions with fibronectin attenuate the virulence of *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *Embo J* (2004) 23: 2166-74.

- Gryllos, I., Cywes, C., Shearer, M. H., Cary, M., Kennedy, R. C. & Wessels, M. R. Regulation of capsule gene expression by group A Streptococcus during pharyngeal colonization and invasive infection. *Mol Microbiol* (2001) 42: 61-74.
- Wessels, M. R., Moses, A. E., Goldberg, J. B. & DiCesare, T. J. Hyaluronic acid capsule is a virulence factor for mucoid group A streptococci. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A (1991) 88: 8317-21.
- 43. Cywes, C. & Wessels, M. R. Group A Streptococcus tissue invasion by CD44mediated cell signalling. *Nature* (2001) **414**: 648-52.
- 44. Cleary, P. P., Prahbu, U., Dale, J. B., Wexler, D. E. & Handley, J. Streptococcal C5a peptidase is a highly specific endopeptidase. *Infect Immun* (1992) **60**: 5219-23.
- 45. Efstratiou, A. Group A streptococci in the 1990s. *J Antimicrob Chemother* (2000) 45 Suppl: 3-12.
- Saravani, G. A. & Martin, D. R. Opacity factor from group A streptococci is an apoproteinase. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* (1990) 56: 35-9.
- 47. **Courtney, H. S., Dale, J. B. & Hasty, D. L.** Mapping the fibrinogen-binding domain of serum opacity factor of group A streptococci. *Curr Microbiol* (2002) **44**: 236-40.
- Courtney, H. S., Hasty, D. L., Li, Y., Chiang, H. C., Thacker, J. L. & Dale, J. B. Serum opacity factor is a major fibronectin-binding protein and a virulence determinant of M type 2 *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *Mol Microbiol* (1999) 32: 89-98.
- Rasmussen, M., Müller, H. P. & Björck, L. Protein GRAB of Streptococcus pyogenes regulates proteolysis at the bacterial surface by binding α₂-macroglobulin. J Biol Chem (1999) 274: 15336-44.
- Lukomski, S., Nakashima, K., Abdi, I., Cipriano, V. J., Ireland, R. M., Reid, S. D., Adams, G. G. & Musser, J. M. Identification and characterization of the *scl* gene encoding a group A Streptococcus extracellular protein virulence factor with similarity to human collagen. *Infect Immun* (2000) 68: 6542-53.
- Åkesson, P., Sjöholm, A. G. & Björck, L. Protein SIC, a novel extracellular protein of *Streptococcus pyogenes* interfering with complement function. *J Biol Chem* (1996) 271: 1081-8.
- Fernie-King, B. A., Seilly, D. J., Willers, C., Wurzner, R., Davies, A. & Lachmann, P. J. Streptococcal inhibitor of complement (SIC) inhibits the membrane attack complex by preventing uptake of C567 onto cell membranes. *Immunology* (2001) 103: 390-8.
- 53. **Collin, M. & Olsén, A.** EndoS, a novel secreted protein from *Streptococcus pyogenes* with endoglycosidase activity on human IgG. *Embo J* (2001) **20**: 3046-55.
- Collin, M., Svensson, M. D., Sjöholm, A. G., Jensenius, J. C., Sjöbring, U. & Olsén, A. EndoS and SpeB from *Streptococcus pyogenes* inhibit immunoglobulinmediated opsonophagocytosis. *Infect Immun* (2002) 70: 6646-51.
- 55. **von Pawel-Rammingen, U., Johansson, B. P. & Björck, L.** IdeS, a novel streptococcal cysteine proteinase with unique specificity for immunoglobulin G. *Embo J* (2002) **21**: 1607-15.

- 56. **Lei, B. et al.** Evasion of human innate and acquired immunity by a bacterial homolog of CD11b that inhibits opsonophagocytosis. *Nat Med* (2001) 7: 1298-305.
- Ruiz, N., Wang, B., Pentland, A. & Caparon, M. Streptolysin O and adherence synergistically modulate proinflammatory responses of keratinocytes to group A streptococci. *Mol Microbiol* (1998) 27: 337-46.
- Sierig, G., Cywes, C., Wessels, M. R. & Ashbaugh, C. D. Cytotoxic effects of streptolysin O and streptolysin S enhance the virulence of poorly encapsulated group A streptococci. *Infect Immun* (2003) 71: 446-55.
- 59. Herwald, H., Collin, M., Müller-Esterl, W. & Björck, L. Streptococcal cysteine proteinase releases kinins: a virulence mechanism. *J Exp Med* (1996) **184**: 665-73.
- Kapur, V., Topouzis, S., Majesky, M. W., Li, L. L., Hamrick, M. R., Hamill, R. J., Patti, J. M. & Musser, J. M. A conserved *Streptococcus pyogenes* extracellular cysteine protease cleaves human fibronectin and degrades vitronectin. *Microb Pathog* (1993) 15: 327-46.
- 61. Berge, A. & Björck, L. Streptococcal cysteine proteinase releases biologically active fragments of streptococcal surface proteins. *J Biol Chem* (1995) **270**: 9862-7.
- Nyberg, P., Rasmussen, M., Von Pawel-Rammingen, U. & Björck, L. SpeB modulates fibronectin-dependent internalization of *Streptococcus pyogenes* by efficient proteolysis of cell-wall-anchored protein F1. *Microbiology* (2004) 150: 1559-69.
- 63. **Bajaj, A. P. & Castellino, F. J.** Activation of human plasminogen by equimolar levels of streptokinase. *J Biol Chem* (1977) **252**: 492-8.
- Sun, H., Ringdahl, U., Homeister, J. W., Fay, W. P., Engleberg, N. C., Yang, A. Y., Rozek, L. S., Wang, X., Sjöbring, U. & Ginsburg, D. Plasminogen is a critical host pathogenicity factor for group A streptococcal infection. *Science* (2004) 305: 1283-6.
- 65. **Birmingham, D. J. & Hebert, L. A.** CR1 and CR1-like: the primate immune adherence receptors. *Immunol Rev* (2001) **180**: 100-11.
- Figueroa, J. E. & Densen, P. Infectious diseases associated with complement deficiencies. *Clin Microbiol Rev* (1991) 4: 359-95.
- Roos, A., Xu, W., Castellano, G., Nauta, A. J., Garred, P., Daha, M. R. & van Kooten, C. Mini-review: A pivotal role for innate immunity in the clearance of apoptotic cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2004) 34: 921-9.
- Schlesinger, L. S. & Horwitz, M. A. Phagocytosis of *Mycobacterium leprae* by human monocyte-derived macrophages is mediated by complement receptors CR1 (CD35), CR3 (CD11b/CD18), and CR4 (CD11c/CD18) and IFN-γ activation inhibits complement receptor function and phagocytosis of this bacterium. *J Immunol* (1991) 147: 1983-94.
- 69. Holers, V. M. & Boackle, S. A. Complement receptor 2 and autoimmunity. *Curr Dir Autoimmun* (2004) 7: 33-48.

- Aubry, J. P., Pochon, S., Graber, P., Jansen, K. U. & Bonnefoy, J. Y. CD21 is a ligand for CD23 and regulates IgE production. *Nature* (1992) 358: 505-7.
- Taborda, C. P. & Casadevall, A. CR3 (CD11b/CD18) and CR4 (CD11c/CD18) are involved in complement-independent antibody-mediated phagocytosis of *Cryptococcus neoformans. Immunity* (2002) 16: 791-802.
- 72. **Boggs, D. R.** The kinetics of neutrophilic leukocytes in health and in disease. *Semin Hematol* (1967) **4**: 359-86.
- Bicknell, S., van Eeden, S., Hayashi, S., Hards, J., English, D. & Hogg, J. C. A nonradioisotopic method for tracing neutrophils in vivo using 5'-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* (1994) 10: 16-23.
- 74. Shi, J., Gilbert, G. E., Kokubo, Y. & Ohashi, T. Role of the liver in regulating numbers of circulating neutrophils. *Blood* (2001) **98**: 1226-30.
- 75. Le Cabec, V., Cowland, J. B., Calafat, J. & Borregaard, N. Targeting of proteins to granule subsets is determined by timing and not by sorting: The specific granule protein NGAL is localized to azurophil granules when expressed in HL-60 cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1996) **93**: 6454-7.
- Arnljots, K., Sørensen, O., Lollike, K. & Borregaard, N. Timing, targeting and sorting of azurophil granule proteins in human myeloid cells. *Leukemia* (1998) 12: 1789-95.
- 77. Sengelov, H., Kjeldsen, L. & Borregaard, N. Control of exocytosis in early neutrophil activation. *J Immunol* (1993) 150: 1535-43.
- 78. Klebanoff, S. J. Myeloperoxidase. Proc Assoc Am Physicians (1999) 111: 383-9.
- 79. **Faurschou, M. & Borregaard, N.** Neutrophil granules and secretory vesicles in inflammation. *Microbes Infect* (2003) **5**: 1317-27.
- 80. **Elsbach, P.** The bactericidal/permeability-increasing protein (BPI) in antibacterial host defense. *J Leukoc Biol* (1998) **64**: 14-8.
- Owen, C. A. & Campbell, E. J. The cell biology of leukocyte-mediated proteolysis. *J Leukoc Biol* (1999) 65: 137-50.
- Turner, J., Cho, Y., Dinh, N. N., Waring, A. J. & Lehrer, R. I. Activities of LL-37, a cathelin-associated antimicrobial peptide of human neutrophils. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* (1998) 42: 2206-14.
- 83. **Oram, J. D. & Reiter, B.** Inhibition of bacteria by lactoferrin and other iron-chelating agents. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (1968) **170**: 351-65.
- Borregaard, N., Kjeldsen, L., Rygaard, K., Bastholm, L., Nielsen, M. H., Sengelov, H., Bjerrum, O. W. & Johnsen, A. H. Stimulus-dependent secretion of plasma proteins from human neutrophils. *J Clin Invest* (1992) 90: 86-96.
- 85. Borregaard, N., Kjeldsen, L., Sengelov, H., Diamond, M. S., Springer, T. A., Anderson, H. C., Kishimoto, T. K. & Bainton, D. F. Changes in subcellular localization and surface expression of L-selectin, alkaline phosphatase, and Mac-1 in human neutrophils during stimulation with inflammatory mediators. *J Leukoc Biol* (1994) 56: 80-7.

- Tapper, H., Karlsson, A., Mörgelin, M., Flodgaard, H. & Herwald, H. Secretion of heparin-binding protein from human neutrophils is determined by its localization in azurophilic granules and secretory vesicles. *Blood* (2002) 99: 1785-93.
- Gautam, N., Olofsson, A. M., Herwald, H., Iversen, L. F., Lundgren-Åkerlund, E., Hedqvist, P., Arfors, K. E., Flodgaard, H. & Lindbom, L. Heparin-binding protein (HBP/CAP37): a missing link in neutrophil-evoked alteration of vascular permeability. *Nat Med* (2001) 7: 1123-7.
- Pereira, H. A., Shafer, W. M., Pohl, J., Martin, L. E. & Spitznagel, J. K. CAP37, a human neutrophil-derived chemotactic factor with monocyte specific activity. *J Clin Invest* (1990) 85: 1468-76.
- Shafer, W. M., Martin, L. E. & Spitznagel, J. K. Late intraphagosomal hydrogen ion concentration favors the in vitro antimicrobial capacity of a 37-kilodalton cationic granule protein of human neutrophil granulocytes. *Infect Immun* (1986) 53: 651-5.
- Sengelov, H., Follin, P., Kjeldsen, L., Lollike, K., Dahlgren, C. & Borregaard, N. Mobilization of granules and secretory vesicles during in vivo exudation of human neutrophils. *J Immunol* (1995) 154: 4157-65.
- Abdel-Latif, D., Steward, M., Macdonald, D. L., Francis, G. A., Dinauer, M. C. & Lacy, P. Rac2 is critical for neutrophil primary granule exocytosis. *Blood* (2004) 104: 832-9.
- 92. Karlsson, A. & Dahlgren, C. Assembly and activation of the neutrophil NADPH oxidase in granule membranes. *Antioxid Redox Signal* (2002) **4**: 49-60.
- 93. **DeLeo, F. R., Allen, L. A., Apicella, M. & Nauseef, W. M.** NADPH oxidase activation and assembly during phagocytosis. *J Immunol* (1999) **163**: 6732-40.
- 94. Witko-Sarsat, V., Rieu, P., Descamps-Latscha, B., Lesavre, P. & Halbwachs-Mecarelli, L. Neutrophils: molecules, functions and pathophysiological aspects. *Lab Invest* (2000) **80**: 617-53.
- 95. Serrander, L., Larsson, J., Lundqvist, H., Lindmark, M., Fällman, M., Dahlgren, C. & Stendahl, O. Particles binding β₂ integrins mediate intracellular production of oxidative metabolites in human neutrophils independently of phagocytosis. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (1999) **1452**: 133-44.
- Kasahara, Y., Iwai, K., Yachie, A., Ohta, K., Konno, A., Seki, H., Miyawaki, T. & Taniguchi, N. Involvement of reactive oxygen intermediates in spontaneous and CD95 (Fas/APO-1)-mediated apoptosis of neutrophils. *Blood* (1997) 89: 1748-53.
- 97. Suzuki, Y. J., Forman, H. J. & Sevanian, A. Oxidants as stimulators of signal transduction. *Free Radic Biol Med* (1997) 22: 269-85.
- Roos, D., van Bruggen, R. & Meischl, C. Oxidative killing of microbes by neutrophils. Microbes Infect (2003) 5: 1307-15.
- Burns, A. R., Bowden, R. A., Abe, Y., Walker, D. C., Simon, S. I., Entman, M. L. & Smith, C. W. P-selectin mediates neutrophil adhesion to endothelial cell borders. J Leukoc Biol (1999) 65: 299-306.

- 100. Yang, J., Hirata, T., Croce, K., Merrill-Skoloff, G., Tchernychev, B., Williams, E., Flaumenhaft, R., Furie, B. C. & Furie, B. Targeted gene disruption demonstrates that P-selectin glycoprotein ligand 1 (PSGL-1) is required for P-selectin-mediated but not E-selectin-mediated neutrophil rolling and migration. *J Exp Med* (1999) 190: 1769-82.
- Ebnet, K. & Vestweber, D. Molecular mechanisms that control leukocyte extravasation: the selectins and the chemokines. *Histochem Cell Biol* (1999) 112: 1-23.
- Lawrence, M. B. & Springer, T. A. Leukocytes roll on a selectin at physiologic flow rates: distinction from and prerequisite for adhesion through integrins. *Cell* (1991) 65: 859-73.
- 103. Chan, J. R., Hyduk, S. J. & Cybulsky, M. I. Chemoattractants induce a rapid and transient upregulation of monocyte α_4 integrin affinity for vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 which mediates arrest: an early step in the process of emigration. *J Exp Med* (2001) **193**: 1149-58.
- Walcheck, B. et al. Neutrophil rolling altered by inhibition of L-selectin shedding in vitro. *Nature* (1996) 380: 720-3.
- Laudanna, C., Campbell, J. J. & Butcher, E. C. Role of Rho in chemoattractantactivated leukocyte adhesion through integrins. *Science* (1996) 271: 981-3.
- 106. Blouin, E., Halbwachs-Mecarelli, L. & Rieu, P. Redox regulation of β₂ integrin CD11b/CD18 activation. *Eur J Immunol* (1999) 29: 3419-31.
- 107. Plow, E. F., Haas, T. A., Zhang, L., Loftus, J. & Smith, J. W. Ligand binding to integrins. J Biol Chem (2000) 275: 21785-8.
- 108. Diamond, M. S., Staunton, D. E., de Fougerolles, A. R., Stacker, S. A., Garcia-Aguilar, J., Hibbs, M. L. & Springer, T. A. ICAM-1 (CD54): a counter-receptor for Mac-1 (CD11b/CD18). J Cell Biol (1990) 111: 3129-39.
- 109. Nortamo, P., Li, R., Renkonen, R., Timonen, T., Prieto, J., Patarroyo, M. & Gahmberg, C. G. The expression of human intercellular adhesion molecule-2 is refractory to inflammatory cytokines. *Eur J Immunol* (1991) 21: 2629-32.
- 110. Werr, J., Eriksson, E. E., Hedqvist, P. & Lindbom, L. Engagement of β_2 integrins induces surface expression of β_1 integrin receptors in human neutrophils. *J Leukoc Biol* (2000) **68**: 553-60.
- 111. Delclaux, C., Delacourt, C., D'Ortho, M. P., Boyer, V., Lafuma, C. & Harf, A. Role of gelatinase B and elastase in human polymorphonuclear neutrophil migration across basement membrane. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* (1996) 14: 288-95.
- 112. Kang, T., Yi, J., Guo, A., Wang, X., Overall, C. M., Jiang, W., Elde, R., Borregaard, N. & Pei, D. Subcellular distribution and cytokine- and chemokine-regulated secretion of leukolysin/MT6-MMP/MMP-25 in neutrophils. *J Biol Chem* (2001) 276: 21960-8.

- 113. Burns, A. R., Walker, D. C., Brown, E. S., Thurmon, L. T., Bowden, R. A., Keese, C. R., Simon, S. I., Entman, M. L. & Smith, C. W. Neutrophil transendothelial migration is independent of tight junctions and occurs preferentially at tricellular corners. *J Immunol* (1997) 159: 2893-903.
- Hoshi, O. & Ushiki, T. Scanning electron microscopic studies on the route of neutrophil extravasation in the mouse after exposure to the chemotactic peptide Nformyl-methionyl-leucyl-phenylalanine (fMLP). *Arch Histol Cytol* (1999) 62: 253-60.
- Carman, C. V. & Springer, T. A. A transmigratory cup in leukocyte diapedesis both through individual vascular endothelial cells and between them. *J Cell Biol* (2004) 167: 377-88.
- Muller, W. A., Weigl, S. A., Deng, X. & Phillips, D. M. PECAM-1 is required for transendothelial migration of leukocytes. *J Exp Med* (1993) 178: 449-60.
- 117. Karlsson, A., Follin, P., Leffler, H. & Dahlgren, C. Galectin-3 activates the NADPH oxidase in exudated but not peripheral blood neutrophils. *Blood* (1998) **91**: 3430-8.
- Foxman, E. F., Kunkel, E. J. & Butcher, E. C. Integrating conflicting chemotactic signals. The role of memory in leukocyte navigation. *J Cell Biol* (1999) 147: 577-88.
- Kitayama, J., Carr, M. W., Roth, S. J., Buccola, J. & Springer, T. A. Contrasting responses to multiple chemotactic stimuli in transendothelial migration: heterologous desensitization in neutrophils and augmentation of migration in eosinophils. *J Immunol* (1997) 158: 2340-9.
- 120. Vidarsson, G. & van de Winkel, J. G. J. Fc rreceptor and complement receptormediated phagocytosis in host defence. *Curr Opin Infect Dis* (1998) 11: 271-278.
- Caron, E. & Hall, A. Identification of two distinct mechanisms of phagocytosis controlled by different Rho GTPases. *Science* (1998) 282: 1717-21.
- 122. Forsberg, M., Druid, P., Zheng, L., Stendahl, O. & Särndahl, E. Activation of Rac2 and Cdc42 on Fc and complement receptor ligation in human neutrophils. J Leukoc Biol (2003) 74: 611-9.
- Sanchez-Mejorada, G. & Rosales, C. Signal transduction by immunoglobulin Fc receptors. *J Leukoc Biol* (1998) 63: 521-33.
- 124. Huizinga, T. W., van Kemenade, F., Koenderman, L., Dolman, K. M., von dem Borne, A. E., Tetteroo, P. A. & Roos, D. The 40-kDa Fcγ receptor (FcRII) on human neutrophils is essential for the IgG-induced respiratory burst and IgG-induced phagocytosis. *J Immunol* (1989) 142: 2365-9.
- 125. de Haas, M., Vossebeld, P. J., von dem Borne, A. E. & Roos, D. Fcγ receptors of phagocytes. J Lab Clin Med (1995) 126: 330-41.
- 126. Tosi, M. F. & Zakem, H. Surface expression of Fcγ receptor III (CD16) on chemoattractant-stimulated neutrophils is determined by both surface shedding and translocation from intracellular storage compartments. J Clin Invest (1992) 90: 462-70.

- 127. de Haas, M., Kerst, J. M., van der Schoot, C. E., Calafat, J., Hack, C. E., Nuijens, J. H., Roos, D., van Oers, R. H. & von dem Borne, A. E. Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor administration to healthy volunteers: analysis of the immediate activating effects on circulating neutrophils. *Blood* (1994) 84: 3885-94.
- 128. Salmon, J. E., Brogle, N. L., Edberg, J. C. & Kimberly, R. P. Fcγ receptor III induces actin polymerization in human neutrophils and primes phagocytosis mediated by Fcγ receptor II. *J Immunol* (1991) **146**: 997-1004.
- Edberg, J. C. & Kimberly, R. P. Modulation of Fcγ and complement receptor function by the glycosyl-phosphatidylinositol-anchored form of Fc gamma RIII. J Immunol (1994) 152: 5826-35.
- Zhou, M. J. & Brown, E. J. CR3 (Mac-1, α_Mβ₂, CD11b/CD18) and FcγRIII cooperate in generation of a neutrophil respiratory burst: requirement for FcγRIII and tyrosine phosphorylation. *J Cell Biol* (1994) 125: 1407-16.
- 131. Salmon, J. E., Millard, S. S., Brogle, N. L. & Kimberly, R. P. Fcγ receptor IIIb enhances Fcγ receptor IIa function in an oxidant-dependent and allele-sensitive manner. *J Clin Invest* (1995) 95: 2877-85.
- 132. Todd, R. F., 3rd & Petty, H. R. β₂ (CD11/CD18) integrins can serve as signaling partners for other leukocyte receptors. *J Lab Clin Med* (1997) 129: 492-8.
- Swanson, J. A. & Hoppe, A. D. The coordination of signaling during Fc receptormediated phagocytosis. *J Leukoc Biol* (2004) 76: 1093-103.
- 134. Hayashi, F., Means, T. K. & Luster, A. D. Toll-like receptors stimulate human neutrophil function. *Blood* (2003) 102: 2660-9.
- Parker, L. C., Whyte, M. K., Dower, S. K. & Sabroe, I. The expression and roles of Toll-like receptors in the biology of the human neutrophil. *J Leukoc Biol* (2005) 77: 886-92.
- 136. Segal, A. W. How neutrophils kill microbes. Annu Rev Immunol (2005) 23: 197-223.
- 137. Reeves, E. P., Lu, H., Jacobs, H. L., Messina, C. G., Bolsover, S., Gabella, G., Potma, E. O., Warley, A., Roes, J. & Segal, A. W. Killing activity of neutrophils is mediated through activation of proteases by K⁺ flux. *Nature* (2002) 416: 291-7.
- Brinkmann, V., Reichard, U., Goosmann, C., Fauler, B., Uhlemann, Y., Weiss, D. S., Weinrauch, Y. & Zychlinsky, A. Neutrophil extracellular traps kill bacteria. *Science* (2004) 303: 1532-5.
- 139. Giancotti, F. G. & Ruoslahti, E. Integrin signaling. Science (1999) 285: 1028-32.
- 140. Lee, J. O., Rieu, P., Arnaout, M. A. & Liddington, R. Crystal structure of the A domain from the α subunit of integrin CR3 (CD11b/CD18). *Cell* (1995) **80**: 631-8.
- 141. **Springer, T. A.** Folding of the N-terminal, ligand-binding region of integrin α subunits into a β propeller domain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1997) **94**: 65-72.
- 142. **Goodman, T. G. & Bajt, M. L.** Identifying the putative metal ion-dependent adhesion site in the β_2 (CD18) subunit required for $\alpha_L \beta_2$ and $\alpha_M \beta_2$ ligand interactions. *J Biol Chem* (1996) **271**: 23729-36.

- 143. **Michishita, M., Videm, V. & Arnaout, M. A.** A novel divalent cation-binding site in the A domain of the β_2 integrin CR3 (CD11b/CD18) is essential for ligand binding. *Cell* (1993) **72**: 857-67.
- 144. Harris, E. S., McIntyre, T. M., Prescott, S. M. & Zimmerman, G. A. The leukocyte integrins. *J Biol Chem* (2000) 275: 23409-12.
- 145. **Pierini, L. M., Lawson, M. A., Eddy, R. J., Hendey, B. & Maxfield, F. R.** Oriented endocytic recycling of $\alpha_s\beta_1$ in motile neutrophils. *Blood* (2000) **95**: 2471-80.
- 146. **Kubes, P., Niu, X. F., Smith, C. W., Kehrli, M. E., Jr., Reinhardt, P. H. & Woodman, R. C.** A novel β_1 -dependent adhesion pathway on neutrophils: a mechanism invoked by dihydrocytochalasin B or endothelial transmigration. *Faseb J* (1995) **9**: 1103-11.
- 147. Heit, B., Colarusso, P. & Kubes, P. Fundamentally different roles for LFA-1, Mac-1 and α_4 integrin in neutrophil chemotaxis. *J Cell Sci* (2005) **118**: 5205-20.
- 148. Loike, J. D., Cao, L., Budhu, S., Marcantonio, E. E., El Khoury, J., Hoffman, S., Yednock, T. A. & Silverstein, S. C. Differential regulation of β₁ integrins by chemoattractants regulates neutrophil migration through fibrin. *J Cell Biol* (1999) 144: 1047-56.
- 149. **May, A. E., Neumann, F. J., Schomig, A. & Preissner, K. T.** VLA-4 $(\alpha_4\beta_1)$ engagement defines a novel activation pathway for β_2 integrin-dependent leukocyte adhesion involving the urokinase receptor. *Blood* (2000) **96**: 506-13.
- 150. van den Berg, J. M., Mul, F. P., Schippers, E., Weening, J. J., Roos, D. & Kuijpers, T. W. β_1 integrin activation on human neutrophils promotes β_2 integrin-mediated adhesion to fibronectin. *Eur J Immunol* (2001) **31**: 276-84.
- 151. **Chambers, J. D., Simon, S. I., Berger, E. M., Sklar, L. A. & Arfors, K. E.** Endocytosis of β_2 integrins by stimulated human neutrophils analyzed by flow cytometry. *J Leukoc Biol* (1993) **53**: 462-9.
- Shaw, J. M. et al. Characterization of four CD18 mutants in leucocyte adhesion deficient (LAD) patients with differential capacities to support expression and function of the CD11/CD18 integrins LFA-1, Mac-1 and p150,95. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2001) 126: 311-8.
- 153. **Jones, S. L., Knaus, U. G., Bokoch, G. M. & Brown, E. J.** Two signaling mechanisms for activation of $\alpha_M \beta_2$ avidity in polymorphonuclear neutrophils. *J Biol Chem* (1998) **273**: 10556-66.
- 154. Weber, K. S., Weber, C., Ostermann, G., Dierks, H., Nagel, W. & Kolanus, W. Cytohesin-1 is a dynamic regulator of distinct LFA-1 functions in leukocyte arrest and transmigration triggered by chemokines. *Curr Biol* (2001) 11: 1969-74.
- 155. Ehlers, M. R. CR3: a general purpose adhesion-recognition receptor essential for innate immunity. *Microbes Infect* (2000) **2**: 289-94.
- 156. Liao, F., Huynh, H. K., Eiroa, A., Greene, T., Polizzi, E. & Muller, W. A. Migration of monocytes across endothelium and passage through extracellular matrix involve separate molecular domains of PECAM-1. *J Exp Med* (1995) **182**: 1337-43.

- 157. **Rainger, G. E., Buckley, C. D., Simmons, D. L. & Nash, G. B.** Neutrophils sense flow-generated stress and direct their migration through $\alpha_{v}\beta_{3}$ integrin. *Am J Physiol* (1999) **276**: H858-64.
- 158. Lowell, C. A., Soriano, P. & Varmus, H. E. Functional overlap in the *src* gene family: inactivation of *hck* and *fgr* impairs natural immunity. *Genes Dev* (1994) **8**: 387-98.
- Lowell, C. A., Fumagalli, L. & Berton, G. Deficiency of Src family kinases p59/ 61hck and p58c-fgr results in defective adhesion-dependent neutrophil functions. J Cell Biol (1996) 133: 895-910.
- Lowell, C. A. & Berton, G. Resistance to endotoxic shock and reduced neutrophil migration in mice deficient for the Src-family kinases Hck and Fgr. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1998) 95: 7580-4.
- 161. **Meng, F. & Lowell, C. A.** A β_1 integrin signaling pathway involving Src-family kinases, Cbl and PI-3 kinase is required for macrophage spreading and migration. *Embo J* (1998) **17**: 4391-403.
- Mócsai, A., Ligeti, E., Lowell, C. A. & Berton, G. Adhesion-dependent degranulation of neutrophils requires the Src family kinases Fgr and Hek. *J Immunol* (1999) 162: 1120-6.
- 163. Yan, S. R., Huang, M. & Berton, G. Signaling by adhesion in human neutrophils: activation of the p72syk tyrosine kinase and formation of protein complexes containing p72syk and Src family kinases in neutrophils spreading over fibrinogen. *J Immunol* (1997) 158: 1902-10.
- 164. Fernandez, R. & Suchard, S. J. Syk activation is required for spreading and H₂O₂ release in adherent human neutrophils. *J Immunol* (1998) 160: 5154-62.
- Mócsai, A., Zhou, M., Meng, F., Tybulewicz, V. L. & Lowell, C. A. Syk is required for integrin signaling in neutrophils. *Immunity* (2002) 16: 547-58.
- Dib, K. & Andersson, T. β₂ integrin signaling in leukocytes. *Front Biosci* (2000) 5: D438-51.
- Berton, G. & Lowell, C. A. Integrin signalling in neutrophils and macrophages. *Cell Signal* (1999) 11: 621-35.
- 168. Axelsson, L., Hellberg, C., Melander, F., Smith, D., Zheng, L. & Andersson, T. Clustering of β_2 integrins on human neutrophils activates dual signaling pathways to PtdIns 3-kinase. *Exp Cell Res* (2000) **256**: 257-63.
- Chen, H. C. & Guan, J. L. Association of focal adhesion kinase with its potential substrate phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1994) 91: 10148-52.
- 170. Sjölander, A., Yamamoto, K., Huber, B. E. & Lapetina, E. G. Association of p21ras with phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1991) 88: 7908-12.
- 171. Rodriguez-Viciana, P., Warne, P. H., Vanhaesebroeck, B., Waterfield, M. D. & Downward, J. Activation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase by interaction with Ras and by point mutation. *Embo J* (1996) 15: 2442-51.

- Takenawa, T. & Itoh, T. Phosphoinositides, key molecules for regulation of actin cytoskeletal organization and membrane traffic from the plasma membrane. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2001) 1533: 190-206.
- 173. **Hellberg, C., Molony, L., Zheng, L. & Andersson, T.** Ca²⁺ signalling mechanisms of the $β_2$ integrin on neutrophils: involvement of phospholipase Cγ2 and Ins(1,4,5)P₃. *Biochem J* (1996) **317 (Pt 2)**: 403-9.
- 174. Berridge, M. J. Inositol trisphosphate and calcium signalling. *Nature* (1993) 361: 315-25.
- 175. Newton, A. C. Protein kinase C: structural and spatial regulation by phosphorylation, cofactors, and macromolecular interactions. *Chem Rev* (2001) 101: 2353-64.
- 176. Fällman, M., Gullberg, M., Hellberg, C. & Andersson, T. Complement receptormediated phagocytosis is associated with accumulation of phosphatidylcholinederived diglyceride in human neutrophils. Involvement of phospholipase D and direct evidence for a positive feedback signal of protein kinase. *J Biol Chem* (1992) 267: 2656-63.
- 177. Keenan, C. & Kelleher, D. Protein kinase C and the cytoskeleton. *Cell Signal* (1998) 10: 225-32.
- Frohman, M. A. & Morris, A. J. Rho is only ARF the story. Phospholipid signalling. *Curr Biol* (1996) 6: 945-7.
- Fällman, M., Andersson, R. & Andersson, T. Signaling properties of CR3 (CD11b/ CD18) and CR1 (CD35) in relation to phagocytosis of complement-opsonized particles. *J Immunol* (1993) 151: 330-8.
- 180. Suchard, S. J., Nakamura, T., Abe, A., Shayman, J. A. & Boxer, L. A. Phospholipase D-mediated diradylglycerol formation coincides with H₂O₂ and lactoferrin release in adherent human neutrophils. *J Biol Chem* (1994) 269: 8063-8.
- 181. Heyworth, P. G., Bohl, B. P., Bokoch, G. M. & Curnutte, J. T. Rac translocates independently of the neutrophil NADPH oxidase components p47phox and p67phox. Evidence for its interaction with flavocytochrome b558. *J Biol Chem* (1994) 269: 30749-52.
- Ridley, A. J. & Hall, A. The small GTP-binding protein Rho regulates the assembly of focal adhesions and actin stress fibers in response to growth factors. *Cell* (1992) 70: 389-99.
- 183. Ridley, A. J., Paterson, H. F., Johnston, C. L., Diekmann, D. & Hall, A. The small GTP-binding protein Rac regulates growth factor-induced membrane ruffling. *Cell* (1992) 70: 401-10.
- Nobes, C. D. & Hall, A. Rho, Rac, and Cdc42 GTPases regulate the assembly of multimolecular focal complexes associated with actin stress fibers, lamellipodia, and filopodia. *Cell* (1995) 81: 53-62.
- Bishop, A. L. & Hall, A. Rho GTPases and their effector proteins. *Biochem J* (2000) 348 Pt 2: 241-55.

- Schuebel, K. E., Movilla, N., Rosa, J. L. & Bustelo, X. R. Phosphorylation-dependent and constitutive activation of Rho proteins by wild-type and oncogenic Vav-2. *Embo J* (1998) 17: 6608-21.
- 187. Zheng, L., Sjölander, A., Eckerdal, J. & Andersson, T. Antibody-induced engagement of β_2 integrins on adherent human neutrophils triggers activation of p21ras through tyrosine phosphorylation of the protooncogene product Vav. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1996) **93**: 8431-6.
- 188. Han, J., Luby-Phelps, K., Das, B., Shu, X., Xia, Y., Mosteller, R. D., Krishna, U. M., Falck, J. R., White, M. A. & Broek, D. Role of substrates and products of PI 3-kinase in regulating activation of Rac-related guanosine triphosphatases by Vav. *Science* (1998) 279: 558-60.
- Zheng, Y., Glaven, J. A., Wu, W. J. & Cerione, R. A. Phosphatidylinositol 4,5bisphosphate provides an alternative to guanine nucleotide exchange factors by stimulating the dissociation of GDP from Cdc42Hs. *J Biol Chem* (1996) 271: 23815-9.
- Missy, K., Van Poucke, V., Raynal, P., Viala, C., Mauco, G., Plantavid, M., Chap, H. & Payrastre, B. Lipid products of phosphoinositide 3-kinase interact with Rac1 GTPase and stimulate GDP dissociation. *J Biol Chem* (1998) 273: 30279-86.
- 191. **Dib, K., Melander, F. & Andersson, T.** Role of p190RhoGAP in β_2 integrin regulation of RhoA in human neutrophils. *J Immunol* (2001) **166**: 6311-22.
- Hoffman, G. R., Nassar, N. & Cerione, R. A. Structure of the Rho family GTPbinding protein Cdc42 in complex with the multifunctional regulator RhoGDI. *Cell* (2000) 100: 345-56.
- 193. Dib, K., Melander, F., Axelsson, L., Dagher, M. C., Aspenström, P. & Andersson, T. Down-regulation of Rac activity during β₂ integrin-mediated adhesion of human neutrophils. *J Biol Chem* (2003) 278: 24181-8.
- 194. Leung, T., Chen, X. Q., Manser, E. & Lim, L. The p160 RhoA-binding kinase ROKα is a member of a kinase family and is involved in the reorganization of the cytoskeleton. *Mol Cell Biol* (1996) 16: 5313-27.
- 195. Amano, M., Chihara, K., Kimura, K., Fukata, Y., Nakamura, N., Matsuura, Y. & Kaibuchi, K. Formation of actin stress fibers and focal adhesions enhanced by Rhokinase. *Science* (1997) 275: 1308-11.
- 196. Amano, M., Ito, M., Kimura, K., Fukata, Y., Chihara, K., Nakano, T., Matsuura, Y. & Kaibuchi, K. Phosphorylation and activation of myosin by Rho-associated kinase (Rho-kinase). *J Biol Chem* (1996) 271: 20246-9.
- 197. **Kimura, K. et al.** Regulation of myosin phosphatase by Rho and Rho-associated kinase (Rho-kinase). *Science* (1996) **273**: 245-8.
- 198. Maekawa, M., Ishizaki, T., Boku, S., Watanabe, N., Fujita, A., Iwamatsu, A., Obinata, T., Ohashi, K., Mizuno, K. & Narumiya, S. Signaling from Rho to the actin cytoskeleton through protein kinases ROCK and LIM-kinase. *Science* (1999) 285: 895-8.

- 199. Symons, M., Derry, J. M., Karlak, B., Jiang, S., Lemahieu, V., McCormick, F., Francke, U. & Abo, A. Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein, a novel effector for the GTPase Cdc42Hs, is implicated in actin polymerization. *Cell* (1996) 84: 723-34.
- Machesky, L. M. & Insall, R. H. Scar1 and the related Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein, WASP, regulate the actin cytoskeleton through the Arp2/3 complex. *Curr Biol* (1998) 8: 1347-56.
- Mullins, R. D. & Pollard, T. D. Rho-family GTPases require the Arp2/3 complex to stimulate actin polymerization in *Acanthamoeba* extracts. *Curr Biol* (1999) 9: 405-15.
- 202. Rohatgi, R., Ma, L., Miki, H., Lopez, M., Kirchhausen, T., Takenawa, T. & Kirschner, M. W. The interaction between N-WASP and the Arp2/3 complex links Cdc42-dependent signals to actin assembly. *Cell* (1999) 97: 221-31.
- Burbelo, P. D., Drechsel, D. & Hall, A. A conserved binding motif defines numerous candidate target proteins for both Cdc42 and Rac GTPases. *J Biol Chem* (1995) 270: 29071-4.
- 204. Sells, M. A., Knaus, U. G., Bagrodia, S., Ambrose, D. M., Bokoch, G. M. & Chernoff, J. Human p21-activated kinase (Pak1) regulates actin organization in mammalian cells. *Curr Biol* (1997) 7: 202-10.
- 205. Sells, M. A., Boyd, J. T. & Chernoff, J. p21-activated kinase 1 (Pak1) regulates cell motility in mammalian fibroblasts. *J Cell Biol* (1999) 145: 837-49.
- 206. **Dharmawardhane, S., Brownson, D., Lennartz, M. & Bokoch, G. M.** Localization of p21-activated kinase 1 (PAK1) to pseudopodia, membrane ruffles, and phagocytic cups in activated human neutrophils. *J Leukoc Biol* (1999) **66**: 521-7.
- 207. Sanders, L. C., Matsumura, F., Bokoch, G. M. & de Lanerolle, P. Inhibition of myosin light chain kinase by p21-activated kinase. *Science* (1999) 283: 2083-5.
- 208. Edwards, D. C., Sanders, L. C., Bokoch, G. M. & Gill, G. N. Activation of LIMkinase by Pak1 couples Rac/Cdc42 GTPase signalling to actin cytoskeletal dynamics. *Nat Cell Biol* (1999) 1: 253-9.
- Lancefield, R. C. Current knowledge of type-specific M antigens of group A streptococci. J Immunol (1962) 89: 307-13.
- 210. Kjøller, L. & Hall, A. Signaling to Rho GTPases. Exp Cell Res (1999) 253: 166-79.